# Improved stock estimation for Iceland scallops (*Chlamys islandica*) in the Svalbard area

Mimi Maria Stokkeland



Supervisors:

Fabian Zimmermann (The Institute of Marine Research) Jan H. Sundet (The Institute of Marine Research)

Katja Enberg (Department of Biological Sciences, University of Bergen)

Master of Science in Biology – Marine Biology Department of Biological Sciences

UNIVERSITY OF BERGEN

June 2023

# Abstract

Iceland scallops (Chlamys islandica) were commercially harvested in the Svalbard fishery protection zone (FPZ) from 1986 to 1992, when the fishery ended due to overfishing. After approximately 30 years of prohibition, a trial fishery was permitted in the scallop beds around the Bear Island (Bear Island SE, Concordia and Kveitehola) in 2021. As an extension of this trial fishery, the Norwegian fishery authorities plan to open a fishery in the Moffen and Parryflaket scallop beds north of Svalbard. We, therefore, surveyed the area in autumn 2022, taking dredge samples and video recordings. The dredge samples were used to collect biological samples, while the video recordings were used to estimate the stock density. Images were randomly selected from the video recordings, and scallops on these images were counted by six individual human counters. The density was then estimated using three different approaches; a design-based swept area estimation (approach 1) and two statistical models; a regular and a spatial generalized additive mixed model (GAMM) (approaches 2a and 2b). Data from surveys in the Bear Island region was included in the models, to compare density between the scallop beds in the Svalbard area. Our main objectives were to standardize the annotation procedure, assess shell height distribution and estimate density and biomass in the Moffen region. And then compare the results with the scallop beds in the Bear Island region. Our main findings indicate recovery in shell height distribution and density. The spatial GAMM (approach 2b) provided the most precise and conservative density estimates. These estimates are expected to serve as the foundation for quota recommendations for harvesting in the Moffen region.

# Acknowledgements

It feels completely surreal that my 10-year goal of becoming a marine biologist is finally achieved.

Firstly, I would like to express my gratitude towards my primary supervisor, Fabian Zimmermann. Your exceptional patience, good explanations, impressively quick email responses, and invaluable assistance in R programming have been tremendously helpful. As a result, my view of R has slowly altered from resentment to almost appreciation. If I choose a path in academia and become a supervisor, I will always ask myself, "What would Fabian do?" when faced with uncertainty.

I would also like to thank the Iceland scallop expert himself, my other supervisor, Jan H. Sundet, for generously dedicating his retirement time to scallop annotations and giving me a lot of constructive feedback during the writing process.

Sincere thanks to Maria Jenssen for her invaluable contributions. Not only did you teach me how to determine the age of scallops and assist with scallop annotations, but you also kindly opened your home to me during my stay in Tromsø. Your homemade meals, family game nights, and introduction to "lutefisk" were truly memorable experiences.

I would also like to thank Katja Enberg for taking the time to be my internal supervisor while on sabbatical. I want to acknowledge Hanna Danielsen and Ragni Olssøn's contributions with scallop annotations, which improved the quality of the project. I would also like to extend my appreciation to the crew on RV Helmer Hanssen for the exceptional research cruise north of Svalbard.

Lastly, I want the thank my classmates for two incredible years with collective ups and downs (mostly ups - e.g., freediving trips, "paint and sip" evenings and "Waffle Thursdays"). Especially thanks to my boyfriend Daniel Seim Berge, for your unwavering support and assistance in enhancing my R-stamina.

# **Table of contents**

| 1. INTRODUCTION  | 6  |
|--|----|
| 1.1 Study species: Iceland scallop (Chlamys islandica) | 6  |
| 1.1.1 Morphology                                       | 7  |
| 1.1.2 Ecology  | 7  |
| 1.1.3 Reproduction and recruitment                     |    |
| 1.1.4 Distribution                                     |    |
| 1.2 Scallop fishery                                    |    |
| 1.2.1. The Norwegian Iceland scallop fishery           |    |
| 1.2.2 Gear development                                 | 11 |
| 1.2.3 Management                                       |    |
| 1.2.4 The commercial interest                          |    |
| 1.3 Aim and objectives                                 | 14 |
| 2. MATERIALS AND METHODS                               |    |
| 2.1 Stock area   |    |
| 2.2 Survey design                                      | 16 |
| 2.2.1 Selection of sampling sites                      |    |
| 2.3 Sampling   |    |
| 2.4 Video analysis                                     |    |
| 2.5 Statistical analysis                               | 21 |
| 2.5.1. Stock estimations                               |    |
| 3. RESULTS   | 25 |
| 3.1 Uncertainty in count estimates                     |    |
| 3.2 Population structure                               |    |
| 3.2.1 Shell height distribution                        |    |
| 3.2.2 Shell height and age distribution                |    |
| 3.3 Historical comparison of population structure      |    |
| 3.4 Stock and biomass estimates                        |    |
| 4. DISCUSSION  |    |
| 4.1 Uncertainty in count estimates                     |    |
| 4.2 Population structure                               |    |
| 4.3 Stock and biomass estimates                        |    |
| 4.4 Uncertainty in density and biomass estimates       |    |
| 4.5 Future work  |    |

| 4.6 Conclusion                          | . 48 |
|---|------|
| 5. REFERENCES                           | 49   |
| 6. APPENDICES                           | 54   |
| 6.1 Appendix 1: Additions to results    | . 54 |
| 6.2 Appendix 2: Additions to discussion | . 62 |

# 1. INTRODUCTION

The exquisite taste of Iceland scallops (*Chlamys islandica*) made the species commercially valuable (Hansen and Nedreaas, 1986, Hauan, 1988). Harvesting of the scallop species started in the Svalbard fishery protection zone (FPZ) in the middle of the 1980s (Sundet and Rubach, 1988). The fishery was short-lived and closed in 1992 due to overfishing (Sundet, 2006). The Iceland scallop fishery has been closed in the Svalbard FPZ until recently; a trial fishery in the Bear Island region was permitted after development of new gear technology and based on quota advice given by the Institute of Marine Research (IMR), (Sundet and Zimmermann, 2020), producing the first catches in December 2022 (Nedrejord, 2023). The Moffen scallop bed north of Spitsbergen was considered the largest fishing ground, with the highest abundance in the Svalbard FPZ in the 1980s (Sundet and Rubach, 1988). Interest in the status of the scallop stock in this area and the potential for an expansion of the trial fishery motivated the study presented here. We surveyed the Moffen region (consisting of the two scallop beds Moffen and Parryflaket) in early autumn 2022 to assess the stock abundance and distribution, which will be the base of future quota advice for the Moffen region.

#### 1.1 Study species: Iceland scallop (Chlamys islandica)

The Iceland scallop is in the order Anisomyaria and the Pectinidae family (Wiborg, 1963).



Figure 1 Picture of the Iceland scallop, Chlamys Islandica. Outside morphology (left-hand side), the mother of pearl lining inside the shell (right-hand side.).

#### 1.1.1 Morphology

The Iceland scallop has the same general shape as most pectinids; the shell is almost circular and laterally compressed. Individuals usually reach a shell height of 80 - 110 mm (Garcia, 2006). The valves are almost identical, but the right ear on the ventral valve has a deeper incision than the left one. Both valves have tiny transversal ribs and more visible radial ribs (figure 1). The shell comes in variable colours (e.g., grey, white, violet, yellow, red), but usually in some variation of orange tones. The mother-of-pearl lining inside also varies in colour (Wiborg, 1963).

#### 1.1.2 Ecology

The Iceland scallop is a slow-growing filter feeder (Ekman, 1953, Wiborg, 1962) found at various depths (Wiborg, 1970), in relatively cold (Wiborg, 1963, Eriksson, 1986, Pedersen, 1994) areas with strong currents (Ekman, 1953). The Iceland scallops can be found between 10, and almost 600 meters depth (Hansen and Nedreaas, 1986, Eriksson, 1986, Rubach and Sundet, 1987), but the highest densities are usually located between 10–100 m depth (Wiborg, 1970). The scallops seem to prefer bottom substrate consisting of gravel/sand/stones (Ekman, 1953, Wiborg, 1962), with a temperature between 1,4 and 10 °C (Wiborg, 1963, Eriksson, 1986, Pedersen, 1994). Still, they can survive temperatures above (Jonasson et al., 2004) and below (Wiborg, 1970). The Iceland scallops can lay freely on the seafloor (Soot-Ryen, 1924) and are, like other pectinids, able to swim by contracting the two valves (Wiborg, 1963). Still, the scallops are mostly found attached to the seabed by byssus threads to other shells or bottom substrate (Wiborg, 1963). The scallop beds create habitats for other species, and the scallops are commonly covered by different fouling organisms, for instance; hydroids, tubiferous annelids, sponges, bryozoans, and barnacles (Wiborg, 1963). Barnacles are generally the most dominating fouling species (Sundet, 1985, Rubach and Sundet, 1987).

The general growth in all the body parts of the scallop (viscera, gonads, and shell) takes place in the same period as the phytoplankton blooms, from the end of March to June (Vahl, 1978, Vahl, 1981a, Vahl, 1981b, Thorarinsdóttir, 1993). The age is usually determined by counting seasonal growth patterns in the ligament at shell umbo. So far it has been found specimens, determined to be older than 20 years old (Vahl, 1981a, Vahl, 1981b).

#### 1.1.3 Reproduction and recruitment

Iceland scallops reproduce sexually during summer. Iceland scallops are dioecious, meaning the sexes are separate (Sundet and Vahl, 1981). The sex ratio seems to be approximately 1:1 (Vahl, 1981a, Eriksson, 1986, Rubach and Sundet, 1987). The gonad in sexually ripe specimen makes it simple to determine the sex; male gonads have a whitish colour, while the female gonad is more orangish in colour (Wiborg, 1963). The gonad in juvenile scallops and in spawned out individuals is often whiteish and consequently not always a useful indicator (Mottet, 1979). Sex determination may therefore be more accurate before, or some months after the spawning season. The spawning period usually lasts from the end of June to the end of July and is affected by an increase in temperature (Skreslet and Brun, 1969, Skreslet, 1973, Sundet and Lee, 1984, Eriksson, 1986, Pedersen, 1988, Oganesyan, 1994) and the nutrient availability (Arsenault and Himmelman, 1998, Thorarinsdóttir, 1993). The larva settles approximately six weeks after the spawning (Thorarinsdóttir, 1991).

The Directorate of Fisheries implemented a minimum legal size in shell height in coastal areas to ensure that individuals were not taken out of the population before they could reproduce (Vahl, 1982). There is a variation in the growth rate between different regions, which results in different sizes and ages at maturity between the locations. In coastal Norway and Iceland, the scallops usually reach maturity at age 5 - 7 years and between a shell height of 40 - 50 mm. The scallops in Greenland can be 4 - 9 years and 30 - 55 mm when becoming fertile (Wiborg, 1963, Eriksson, 1986, Pedersen, 1994). This was the main reason for implementing a minimum legal size of 65 mm in the coastal areas (Hauan, 1988), and 60 mm in the Svalbard FPZ, based on assumptions that scallops in the Svalbard area grow slower than scallops along the coastline, thus are smaller when reaching maturity (Jan H. Sundet, pers. comm.).

#### 1.1.4 Distribution

The Iceland scallop is a sub-arctic species, which is found along western and northern Spitsbergen, Hopen Island, the Bear Island, Murman coast, west coast of Novaja Zemlja, White Sea, Kara Sea, Jan Mayen Island, East and West Greenland, Iceland, the east coast of Canada, North America and north and west in Norway (Sars, 1878, Ekman, 1953, Berg et al., 1958, Wiborg, 1963, Wiborg et al., 1974, Eriksson, 1986, Galand and Fevolden, 2000, Garcia, 2006, Jonasson et al., 2007). Along the Norwegian coast, the highest population densities are found

in fjords with shallow sills and strong currents, and the populations are mainly distributed north of the Lofoten area (Wiborg, 1963).

This study surveyed the scallop beds north (around Moffen) and south (around the Bear Island) of Svalbard (figure 2).



Figure 2 Map of the observed distribution of Iceland scallop from Norwegian surveys – Mareano survey (dark colour), scallop survey (green) and Institute of Marine Research (IMR) surveys (maroon). The purple polygons show known scallop beds. The numbered areas show the scallop beds we focus on in this study; 1 = Bear Island SE, 2 = Kveitehola, 3 = Concordia, 4 = Moffen and 5 = Parryflaket.

#### 1.2 Scallop fishery

Global scallop fishery was poorly managed at the beginning of the 20th century, which led to overfishing and collapse of several stocks (Shumway and Parsons, 2016). People have harvested scallops in shallow habitats throughout centuries (Rhodes, 1991), however, other kinds of bivalves such as mussels and clams played a more important part in preindustrial fishing communities (Shumway and Parsons, 2016). Most scallop fisheries require some degree of technology and equipment, compared to preindustrial subsistence harvesting of mussels and clams. The scallop fishery is therefore a relatively "new" fishery, oriented towards a commercial market (Shumway and Parsons, 2016). Today's scallop fishery can be divided into three categories; small-scale operations (usually inshore, dredging, trawling, diving, or raking where the fishers go back and forth to shore every day), and large-scale industrial operations (often offshore, processing the catch onboard, lasting for days) and the last is sea ranching, which is a kind of aquaculture in the wild. It is important to be aware of these differences when managing scallop stocks because the different categories may require various stock regulations. For instance, quotas might be a viable option when regulating large-scale industrial fisheries, but may be difficult to enforce in a small-scale fishery (Shumway and Parsons, 2016). The neglect of proper management combined with environmental changes/disturbances have caused the collapse of several scallop stocks (Shumway and Parsons, 2016), e.g. the collapse of Queen scallop Aequipecten opercularis in Spain after the 1960s (Orensanz et al., 2006), New Zealand scallop Pecten novaezelandiae in New Zealand (north of the South Island) in the end of the 1970s (Mincher, 2008) and King scallop Pecten maximus in Cardigan Bay in the United Kingdom in 1980 (Ansell, 1991). Scallop stocks are usually common property and have earlier been managed as open access fishing resources or with unlimited number of licences, leading to overfishing (Brand, 2006). This was also the case when the Iceland scallop fishery started in Iceland in 1969 (Garcia, 2006), while regulations were implemented when the harvest of Iceland scallops started in Greenland in 1983: Only a few licences were issued and a yearly quota was determined. These regulatory measures have kept the catch steady through the years (Garcia, 2006).

#### 1.2.1. The Norwegian Iceland scallop fishery

The commercial interest in Iceland scallops in the Svalbard FPZ did not occur until the mid-1980s and lasted 7-8 years. The fishery ended due to overfishing in the early 1990s (Garcia, 2006).

Until the 60s, the scallops were primarily used as fishing bait, by Northern Norwegian fishermen (Wiborg, 1963, Sundet, 1985). Wiborg conducted the first survey of Iceland scallop beds in Norwegian coastal waters in 1961/62. These preliminary surveys were conducted in Troms and Finnmark in the northern part of Norway, however, Wiborg (1963) suggested that the waters around Svalbard also could be promising for harvesting scallops. The first surveys of scallop beds in the Svalbard FPZ were at the Bear Island, in 1968/69 (Wiborg, 1970). These surveys concluded that the rough bottom conditions would make commercial fishery challenging in the area (Wiborg, 1970). The conclusion from the following survey in 1973 was more optimistic towards commercial possibilities. Wiborg (1974) found mainly Iceland scallops in the Svalbard FPZ with a shell height between 75 - 85 mm, that was 10 - 15 years old, probably because small scallops could escape through the meshes of the dredge. The gonad and muscle weight were greater around the Bear Island than north and west of Spitsbergen Island (Wiborg et al., 1974). The scallop beds in the Svalbard FPZ seemed to have a promising fishery potential (Garcia, 2006). However, it was not until 1985 that the interest in Iceland scallop harvesting started. Fishermen rebuilt their seiners and trawlers to fit the scallop fishery in the Bear Island and Spitsbergen area (Jan H. Sundet pers. comm.). Consequently, Rubach and Sundet surveyed the Bear Island, Spitsbergen and Jan Mayen in 1986 and found scallop beds suitable for dredging (Rubach and Sundet, 1987). Nonetheless, Wiborg (1970) assumed that some parts of the scallop beds were impossible to dredge and suggested that these areas could serve as undisturbed pools generating recruits to sustain the stock in harvested areas. Even so, the Iceland scallop stock declined, and the last Norwegian scallop boat stopped fishing in the Svalbard FPZ in 1992 (Sundet, 2006).

#### 1.2.2 Gear development

Iceland scallop was harvested with heavy dredges during the commercial fishery (Wiborg, 1963, Sundet, 1985, Sundet, 2006), this is not a sustainable way to harvest, and a development of gear is required to continue harvesting (Sundet et al., 2019).

The fishing effort increased rapidly and peaked with 26 vessels in 1986 (Sundet and Rubach, 1988). Nine of these vessels were built specially for Iceland scallop fishery, while the rest were

old fishing vessels rebuilt to fit scallop fisheries (Opstad, 1988, Misund et al., 2016). The vessels operated at least two dredges simultaneously - one hauled up on deck while the other fished (Sundet, 1985). The dredges weighed 3 - 7 tons each (Sundet, 2006). Video recordings from the bottom at Moffen and the Bear Island after the dredging activity showed marked furrows in the bottom sediments, probably caused by years of dredging (Sundet et al., 2019). Research on dredge effects on the sea floor ecosystem has not been conducted in this area, however, several reports have shown significant differences and disturbances in the ecosystems as a result of dredging elsewhere (Collie et al., 1997, Veale et al., 2000, Jenkins et al., 2001, Thrush and Dayton, 2002, Council, 2002, Jennings et al., 2005). Consequently, the Norwegian fishery authorities have banned dredge as a gear choice in Iceland scallop fisheries. To be able to open for Iceland scallop fishery new gear is required. Therefore Ava Ocean (formerly known as Tau tech AS) developed a new gear to minimize the impact on the sea floor, they named it "harvester". The harvester uses negative pressure to suck up scallops from the sea floor. Scallops and organisms smaller than minimal legal size are sorted out at the sea floor. This is supposed to secure the sea floor fauna, and thereby make the fishery more sustainable. Ava Ocean hired the Institute of Marine Research (IMR) and the Norwegian Institute of Water Research (NIVA) to test the "harvester". The survey gave the following results; no changes in species composition (except Iceland scallops), small/moderate fauna damage and moderate impact on bottom sediments (Sundet et al., 2019). Consequently, the harvester might be the future of Iceland scallop fisheries. However, these results were based on a single survey, thus more research is needed to understand the impact of harvesting on larger scale over time (Sundet et al., 2019).

#### 1.2.3 Management

The fishery of Iceland scallop in the 1980s resulted in overfishing and severe impacts on the benthic habitat (Sundet, 2006), calling for more sustainable and precautionary management. Surveys were conducted in the Svalbard region before the fisheries started in the middle of the 80s, to map out the populations (Wiborg, 1970, Wiborg et al., 1974, Rubach and Sundet, 1987). Vahl (1982) suggested that the density of recruits is negatively correlated with the number of adults. This indicates that the success of recruitment might be related to population density (Vahl, 1982). Even so, with minimum legal size as the primary management measure, the population declined and Norwegian vessels stopped fishing in the Svalbard FPZ in 1992 (Sundet, 2006). Since then, the Institute of Marine Research partly surveyed Moffen and the

Bear Island areas in respectively 1994 and 1996, and both regions in 2006 - to map the population development (Sundet, 2006). A stock survey was conducted around the Bear Island in 2019, to estimate a sustainable fishing quota in the area (Sundet and Zimmermann, 2020). And Ava Ocean started a five-year trial fishery in the area at the end of 2022, with a quota of 15 000 tons of scallops per year (Nedrejord, 2023).

Total allowable catch (TAC) and rotational management are examples of management approaches that have been used to manage scallop stocks throughout the world (Shumway and Parsons, 2016). In Iceland both TAC and minimum legal size were implemented in 1978 to manage the Iceland Scallop stock, however, the stock was recruitment overfished and the fishery closed in 2003/2004 (Garcia, 2006). Rotational management and closed areas have given successful results on other scallop species (Shumway and Parsons, 2016). *Pecten. maximus* in the Isle of Man area increased in size, age and density after closing the area (Beukers-Stewart et al., 2005). The temporal openings of parts of scallop beds with individuals over minimum legal size have given profitable results (Rudders et al., 2006).

#### 1.2.4 The commercial interest

The Iceland scallop is commercially harvested mainly because of its edible and tasty adductor muscle (Rubach and Sundet, 1987, Sundet, 2006). The muscle is the solemn target in factory manufacturing, but gonads are targeted as well in the manual processing of the scallops (Jan H. Sundet pers. comm.). In scallops at minimum legal size (60 mm) pre-spawning, the adductor muscle can make up to 20 - 25% of the total weight (Wiborg, 1963, Rubach and Sundet, 1987). The scallops are at minimum weight in early spring and reach maximum weight in the early autumn (Sundet and Vahl, 1981). The habitat depth may also influence muscle size; the scallops from the shallowest areas had the largest muscles (Rubach and Sundet, 1987). The adductor muscle store food surplus as glycogen. Low content of glycogen results in a watery and shrivelled muscle, while high levels of glycogen create a tasty and firm meat (Mottet, 1979). The glycogen accumulates in the muscle mostly during the summer and the glycogen level peaks in august (Sundet and Vahl, 1981).

### 1.3 Aim and objectives

Gear developments sparked an interest in re-opening the scallop beds in the Svalbard FPZ, including the beds north of Svalbard (in the Moffen region), to trial fishery.

The main aim of the project is therefore to provide improved stock estimates for Iceland scallop, *Chlamys islandica*, in the Svalbard area, based on data from the surveys covering scallop beds around the Bear Island and in the Moffen region.

#### Specific aims include:

• To standardize the scallop counting procedure based on video transects, using a comparative picture annotation approach to quantify the uncertainty of the scallop counting strategy.

• To map the distribution and density of Iceland scallops in the Moffen and Parryflaket scallop beds, using video transects and dredge stations. I will compare these results with previous findings from the Bear Island region.

• To estimate total abundance and biomass in the Moffen and Parryflaket scallop beds from density information and potential explanatory variables such as bottom depth using geostatistical modelling. We will include data from previous surveys (2019 and 2020) in the Bear Island region to compare results from the two regions, and between design- and model-based estimation approaches.

# 2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 2.1 Stock area

Surveys were conducted south of Svalbard in the Bear Island and Spitsbergenbanken area in 2019 and 2020, and north of Svalbard in the Moffen region in 2022 (figure 3). The Moffen Island is encompassed by a protected area, that covers the surrounding territorial waters (12 nm). In 2004, the limits for territorial waters was extended from 4 nm to 12 nm, which also resulted in the expansion of the protected area (Pedersen et al., 2015). Thus the area accessible to fishery has decreased since the 1980s, but the accessible scallop bed is still of a considerable size (Sundet and Zimmermann, 2020).

In this paper the "Bear Island region" is a collective term applying to all the scallop beds (Bear Island Southeast, Concordia and Kveitehola) in the Bear Island and Spitsbergenbanken area, while the "Moffen region" applies to the two scallop beds Moffen and Parryflaket.

The survey in 2019 was conducted to estimate the stock size in the Bear Island region, and provide advice on a possible trial fishery in the area (Sundet and Zimmermann, 2020). The survey in 2020 was supposed to collect samples in the Moffen region, but challenging ice conditions in the area led to sampling in the Bear Island region instead (Fabian Zimmermann pers. comm.). The stock status north of Svalbard remained therefore unknown and the region was not included in the areas open to the trial fishery approved in 2021. To close this knowledge gap, we surveyed the Moffen and Parryflaket scallop beds in 2022. The main aim of this study was to collect and analyse the survey data and estimate the scallop abundance around Moffen and Parryflaket. Data from the two surveys in the Bear Island region was included here to compare results from the two regions and test a model-based estimation of abundance that integrates data from all surveyed areas.



Figure 3 Overview of survey areas from Iceland scallop research cruises in 2019, 2020 (the Bear Island region) and 2022 (the Moffen region).

#### 2.2 Survey design

The survey areas were based on survey data from 1986 and 1988, enclosing the areas around Svalbard (the Bear Island region and Moffen region) where Iceland scallops were previously observed. Data from the Bear Island region was collected on a research cruise conducted on RV Johan Hjort between 29.11.2019 - 12.12.2019 and on RV Helmer Hanssen between 15.06.2020 - 21.06.2020, and on the Moffen and Parryflaket scallop beds during a research cruise on RV Helmer Hanssen 20.09. - 26.09. in 2022.

During the research cruise on RV Johan Hjort in 2019, 44 Delta scallop dredge (duration 5 minutes) samples and 26 (duration 60 minutes) video sledge samples were taken. The video sledge was initially made to observe red king crabs (*Paralithodes camtschaticus*) and had a fibre cable connected between the vessel and the sledge to transfer live footage.

Throughout the cruise on RV Helmer Hanssen in 2020, 4 Delta scallop dredge (duration 5 minutes) samples and 35 (duration 60 minutes), video sledge samples were taken. The sledge was a simpler version of the one used in 2019, without live footage transfer, but the principle was the same – a sledge gliding along the sea floor with a recording device attached (figure 4).

During the cruise on RV Helmer Hanssen in 2022, we did 13 Delta scallop dredge (duration 5 minutes) samples and 60 (duration 20 - 30 minutes) video sledge (the same sledge as in the 2020 survey) samples (figure 5). The video recordings were half of the duration of previous years. This made it possible to do more sledge stations, thus covering more potentially various areas.



Figure 4 Picture (by Fabian Zimmermann, 2022) of the video sledge used in Iceland scallop surveys in 2020 and 2022 in the Bear Island and Moffen regions respectively.

The overall sampling structure varied between the surveys in the Bear Island region and the survey in the Moffen region. During the cruises in 2019 and 2020 (the Bear Island surveys), Delta scallop dredge and video sledge were used at different locations, which made it possible to cover larger survey areas. In contrast, in the survey in 2022, all the dredging stations were

combined with video stations. At 13 positions parallel stations with video and dredge were conducted, allowing to compare observation of scallops (occurrences and densities) based on the two different gear types. The video recordings were taken first, then the dredged samples – to be able to observe/count the number of shells before removing them, in addition to avoiding disturbance in sediments, lowering the quality of the recordings. The remaining stations consisted only of video sledges. All the video recordings were saved on discs with backup copies, to be processed on shore.

#### 2.2.1 Selection of sampling sites

Survey data from 1986 and 1988 were used to create polygons enclosing the areas around Svalbard where the Iceland scallop was previously observed. These areas were divided into substrata to separate areas inside and outside the Moffen protected area. Only video samples were taken inside the protected area, while dredge and video samples were collected outside. Sample sites were randomly selected along a nonaligned grid (by using the sp package (Pebesma and Bivand, 2005) in R (v. 4.2.3; R Core Team, 2023)), and paired with depth information based on the closest available position with known bottom depth (based on GEBCO bathymetric data and observed depth in 1986/1988). Iceland scallops mainly occur between 35 m and 100 m depth in the offshore regions (Rubach and Sundet, 1987). Thus, sampling positions were restricted to bottom depths between 20 and 150 m. The probability of selecting a site within the protected area was downweighed, to ensure that most stations were placed outside the protected area. The probability of choosing stations along the eastern border of the protected area was also down-weighted due to the suboptimal bottom substrate. The randomized selection of stations resulted in 84 stations, where half of them were considered backups.



Figure 5 Overview of survey stations from Iceland Scallop survey in the Moffen and Parryflaket area (see figure 2 for locations of the two scallop beds). The colour difference indicates bottom depth (m) and the shapes indicates gear type. Protected area is shown as red polygons.

#### 2.3 Sampling

We sorted the dredge content on deck and picked out all the Iceland scallops, and measured shell height of all the individuals, from the umbo to the shell edge. Ten individuals from each dredge were randomly selected and dissected. Tissue, mussel, digestive gland, and gonad samples were collected and conserved in a freezer to be processed onshore. The shells were then frozen for later age determination. Extra shell samples were selected to represent different sizes, hence different ages. The shells were age-determined following the procedure by Johannessen (1973).

Growth as the age-shell height relationship was estimated using the von Bertalanffy growth function (VBGF):

$$L(a) = L_{\infty} \times (1 - e^{(-k \times (a - t_0))})$$
(2.1)

Where L(a) is the length of the scallop at age a,  $L\infty$  is the asymptotic size, *k* the growth coefficient, *a* the age of the organism and *to* the theoretical size at age 0 (Von Bertalanffy, 1938).

#### 2.4 Video analysis

Scallop counts from video analyses were used to estimate the density and stock size in the Bear Island region and the Moffen region. Dredging of Iceland scallops is considered unsuitable for stock estimation because the area covered is challenging to standardize even with the same duration and speed, mainly because the dredge can fill up quickly in areas with larger rocks and other bottom substrate (Mann et al., 2004). We therefore used the dredge stations to collect biological samples, while the video recordings were used to determine the stock size. Each video recording from the 2019 and 2020 surveys lasted approximately 60 minutes.

The quality of the recordings varied with the speed of the sledge, in addition to the amount of marine snow, loose fine-grained sediments, and motion disturbances. The scallops were covered by barnacles, which made it difficult to separate them from rocks and other bottom substrate. It was also challenging to separate living scallops from dead, as the shells of dead scallops often remain intact over long time periods. Scallops were determined as living mostly based on visible live tissue of open scallops and their position, i.e., whether an upright position, opening angle, etc. provided clear indications of active feeding. We did not count individuals we were uncertain about, and only counted scallops that could be considered alive with high confidence. Consequently, one can assume that some living scallops were not counted, contributing to a conservative estimate.

Because differentiating (live) scallops is challenging due to their cryptic appearance on the sea floor, often together with dead shells, still-images with sufficient quality were needed. This was in a first step selected from the videos, extracting a subset of images from each video. The vessel's slow towing speed resulted in random segments of slow speed or standstill on the sea floor; the latter was suitable to extract images of sufficient quality to identify living scallops. This resulted in 32 – 285 (mean 122) single images from each station in 2019, and 1 - 317 (mean 173) images from each station in 2020. The video recordings lasted approximately 20

minutes in the survey in the Moffen region in 2022, generating 3 - 118 (mean 48) images from each station. We assumed that each image made up a random representative sub-sample of the whole station area in the further data processing.

Because of different camera systems, the images from 2019 represented an area of  $0.65 \times 0.65$  m, while the images from 2020 and 2022 represented an area of  $0.55 \times 0.9$  m. The area difference was standardized in further analysis to scallops per m<sup>2</sup>. Six people identified, counted, and annotated scallops per image in the annotation program VIAME DIVE. The counting-experience varied between the counters; one can be considered an expert (counted scallops from the surveys in 2019 and 2020), three of the counters had some kind of experience with counting based on video recordings, but not on Iceland scallops, and the last two counters had no video-based counting experience. A subset of stations was assigned to each of the six counters to ensure that images from each station were annotated by two to five counters. The multiple counts per station were used to compare resulting scallop density and quantify counter bias and variation. In addition, each counter assessed individually if the images were of sufficient quality to be able to determine/count scallops, which led to a slight difference in the number of pictures per station between the counters in some of the stations.

The counting procedure used in this study was designed to 1) document the image analysis and counting procedure for transparency and reproducibility, 2) to compare and standardize counts and quantify uncertainty introduced by counter subjectivity, and 3) establish a library of annotated image for future training of image recognition algorithms based on machine learning. The goal was to improve the procedure previously used. To analyse the video data from the surveys in 2019 and 2020, one expert went through all recordings from all the stations, paused the videos when the image was clear enough to detect the scallops, and registered the number of scallops counted. These images or meta data about video location were not stored for later, nor was any comparison or cross-validation conducted.

#### 2.5 Statistical analysis

All the analyses were conducted using R (v. 4.2.3; R Core Team, 2023), RStudio (Posit team, 2023) and the tidyverse package (Wickham et al., 2019). Statistical analysis and stock estimation were conducted with the following packages: glmmTMB (Brooks et al., 2017), sdmTMB (Anderson et al., 2022) and INLA (Bakka et al., 2018). The model residuals were checked using the DHARMa package (Hartig, 2022). ggOceanMaps (Vihtakari, 2022) was used to create maps.

Then we used three approaches to estimate the density of Iceland scallops around Moffen: A design-based swept area estimation, and two statistical models (generalized additive mixed models (GAMMs)).

#### 2.5.1. Stock estimations

After the Bear Island region survey in 2019, the stock size was calculated using design-based approach (Approach 1) that represents a common and efficient approach to estimate stock size when assuming that observations are representative for the stock area. Here we compared the same approach with two model-based approaches, testing both a regular and a spatial GAMM (approaches 2a and 2b).

Approach 1 was a design-based swept area estimate; the density was calculated by using the mean of counted scallops per m<sup>2</sup> per scallop bed:

$$d = \mu_d \tag{2.2}$$

Where d is the estimated density and  $\mu_d$  is the mean density of counted scallops (n/m<sup>2</sup>). This approach was used as a baseline when comparing the three approaches.

Approach 2a and 2b were model-based stock estimations using GAMMs that differed mostly by whether they were explicitly spatial by including spatial correlation as spatial random fields (2b). Generalized models provide multiple advantages compared to approach 1, notably that they are flexible in handling non-gaussian distribution as often found with catches or densities (strictly zero-positive data, often with long right tails due to few very high observations), allow to include covariates that explain part of the observed variation such as bottom depth or environmental variables, and allow to include random effects to account for unobserved processes and clustering effects such as spatial variation or vessel or gear effects. Distribution of Iceland scallops is very patchy, and they tend to grow in clusters (Brand, 2006b), creating areas dominated by scallops and areas with few or no scallops present even on a very short spatial scale. The high degree of spatial variation represents a challenge for design-based estimates that assume representative observations from a relatively homogenously distribution population, and it also makes it difficult to stratify a scallop bed into statistically representative sub-areas. Therefore, we added geospatial information in approach 2b. Approach 2a can be formulated:

$$E(Y) = \mu = f^{-1}(X\beta + Zu)$$
(2.3)

Where the expected value of Y is denoted as E(Y),  $\mu$  is the mean, f is the link function, X is a model matrix for fixed effects and  $\beta$  is the fixed effects. The random effects model matrix is denoted as Z and u are the random effects (Hatefi, 2021).

The GAMM including spatial random fields (approach 2b) allows for inclusion of spatially auto-correlated random effects structure to account for spatial correlation and variation among data points. Approach 2b can be formulated:

$$E[y_{s}] = \mu_{s} = f^{-1}(X_{s}^{main}\beta + \alpha_{g} + X_{s,t}^{svc}\zeta_{s} + \omega_{s})$$
(2.4)

Where  $E[y_s]$  is the expected value of y in the point s (lowercase s stands for specific point s in the whole equation). The mean is denoted by  $\mu_s$ , f is the link function,  $X_s^{main}$  and  $X_s^{svc}$  are different model matrixes ( $X_s^{main}$  is matrix for main effects and  $X_s^{svc}$  is matrix for spatially varying coefficients).  $\beta$  represents fixed effects,  $\alpha_g$  represents random intercept by group g,  $\zeta_s$  represents spatially varying coefficients and  $\omega_s$  represents a spatial component (Anderson et al., 2022).

The mean scallop density per image per scallop bed was used to estimate density and the total amount of scallops per bed. The counted density of scallops per m<sup>2</sup> was the response variable, while bottom depth (with a thin-plate smooth spline restricted to three degrees of freedom) and scallop bed were included as continuous and categorical fixed effects, respectively. The sampling equipment (video sledge) differed between the first and the two other surveys, and gear type was therefore included as a random intercept to absorb potential "catchability" differences (i.e., differences in observations that might be linked to differences in camera angle or similar).

Because of the distribution of observed densities that included both zeros and positive continuous values, we modelled the response variable with a tweedie distribution with a log link.

The implementation of tweedie in glmmTMB and sdmTMB is a compound Poisson-Gamma distribution that combines Poisson for zero/non-zero and Gamma for positive-continuous values.

The tweedie distribution can be described;

Tweedie (
$$\mu, p, \phi$$
) 1

Where mean is denoted  $\mu$ , p is the power parameter determining the shape of the distribution and the dispersion parameter is  $\varphi$ . The tweedie distribution is flexible and can handle both underdispersion and overdispersion, and the dispersion parameter  $\varphi$  allows for flexible variance in the models (Anderson et al., 2022).

Mean densities and their standard errors were predicted from the fitted values of both GAMM implementations, either for the scallop bed effect with bottom depth set to the observed mean (approach 2a) or by predicting across integration grids for all scallop beds (approach 2b). A "simple" prediction was also done using the spatial GAMM (approach 2b), with bottom depth set to the observed mean, to compare the depth-density relationship between approach 2a and 2b. Integration grids were created as evenly spaced integration points within the scallop bed polygons, and for each integration point bottom depth was derived from GEBCO bathymetric data (www.gebco.net). The Iceland scallop usually grows between 35- and 100-meters depth in the Svalbard region (Rubach and Sundet, 1987), and regions with depths between 20 and 160 m were therefore selected. This grid was used when predicting the fitted values of the approach 2b. Predictions were done on population level, i.e., the random effect for gear was set to its mean (0). Approach 2b allows to predict across the spatial domain and therefore to estimate spatially weighted mean densities. This accounts for depth and habitat structure within a scallop bed and may provide a better representation of the spatial variation in density than a mean of observations. To represent uncertainty across the integration grid adequately, 500 simulations were generated that represent each a random draw from the joint mean and standard error estimate of the fitted model for each integration point.

We calculated the abundance (number of scallops per scallop bed) by multiplying the mean density estimates and 95% CIs from approach 1 and 2a with the area of the scallop beds. The harvestable biomass was calculated by multiplying the abundance larger than the minimum legal size (60 mm) with 0.07 kg (the mean total weight of Iceland scallops larger than 60 mm (Sundet and Zimmermann, 2020)).

#### 3. RESULTS

In the first section the uncertainty of the counting method is described and assessed, to quantify the variation between counter and, thus, determine if the procedure gives a reliable mean count, that can be used in further density estimations. As important demographic characteristics of a population, shell height distribution and growth (fitted with VBGF) are presented and compared between the Moffen and the Bear Island regions. The ratio of scallops larger or equal to 65 mm in data from 2019, 2020 and 2022 surveys is contrasted with data from 1986 and 1987 in the two areas. The surveys from 1986 and 1987 are used as a baseline, to be able to comment on the development of shell height distribution in the two regions. Lastly, I compare three approaches (design based swept area, generalized additive mixed model (GAMM) and GAMM including spatial correlation) to estimate the density of Iceland scallop in the five scallop beds in the Moffen and the Bear Island regions.

#### 3.1 Uncertainty in count estimates

The mean of observed/counted scallops varied between the counters. The variation in number of counted scallops did not have a counter-specific bias, that is mean counts did not follow a specific pattern related to the counter. The exception was one counter who had a tendency towards higher counts than those of the others (figure 6). The absolute uncertainty (standard deviation SD) tended to be higher on stations with higher mean count (n scallops/image), as expected, while the coefficient of variation (CV = standard deviation/mean of counted density) did not follow this trend. The CV was highest in stations with few scallops (see table A1, in appendix 1). The number of scallops seemed to be related to the number of images per station – the higher the number of pictures, the higher the number of scallops. Even though, this did not apply to all the stations (table 1); high number of images from areas with low scallop density did not increase the mean density count.



Figure 6 The mean of counted density of Iceland scallops (n/image), with error-bars showing 95% confidence level, based on five human counters. The stations with highest mean densities were selected, to illustrate the high absolute uncertainty in mean density counts between the counters.

The stations with the highest standard deviation in the scallop count per image were 75027, 75059 and 75080. All these stations had a high mean count (across the counters); over 4.8 scallops per image (figure 6). The stations with the lowest standard deviation, e.g., station 75021 and 75076, had a low mean count (less than one scallop per image) (table 1). 38 of 60 stations had a mean count of one scallop per image (see figure A1 in appendix 1).

| Table 1 | Overview of   | <sup>c</sup> video-stations | (with the | highest   | and lowe   | st standard | l deviation) | in the | e Moffen | region; | counter | ID, | the |
|---------|---------------|-----------------------------|-----------|-----------|------------|-------------|--------------|--------|----------|---------|---------|-----|-----|
| number  | of counted Ic | celand scallops             | and numb  | er of ima | ages per s | tation.     |              |        |          |         |         |     |     |

| Station number | <b>Counter ID</b> | Scallops (n) | Images (n) |
|----------------|-------------------|--------------|------------|
| 75021          | HD                | 0            | 34         |
| 75021          | JS                | 1            | 34         |
| 75021          | MJ                | 1            | 34         |
| 75021          | MS                | 1            | 34         |
| 75027          | JS                | 277          | 67         |
| 75027          | MJ                | 669          | 68         |
| 75027          | RO                | 671          | 68         |
| 75059          | HD                | 1 673        | 135        |
| 75059          | JS                | 703          | 135        |
| 75059          | MJ                | 573          | 135        |
| 75076          | HD                | 3            | 70         |
| 75076          | JS                | 3            | 70         |
| 75076          | MS                | 1            | 70         |
| 75080          | JS                | 168          | 35         |
| 75080          | MS                | 73           | 35         |
| 75080          | RO                | 264          | 34         |

The stations with the highest CV were the following stations: 75039, 75043 and 75082, with a CV between 1.18 and 1.73 (figure 7). The median CV per picture per station was 0.562. Station 75006 and 75014 had the lowest CV; 0.14 and 0.08. Both stations had a high mean count, while the stations with the highest CV had a relatively low mean count of scallops (across counters), (see table A1 in appendix 1).



Figure 7 The mean coefficient of variation (CV = standard deviation/mean of counted density of Iceland scallops) per image per video-station. From survey in the Moffen and Parryflaket scallop beds north of Svalbard autumn 2022.

Despite the varying scallop count between the six counters, there was a clear common trend throughout all the stations; all the counters generally annotated high scallop density on the same images, and low density on the same images (figure 8). However, there were some exceptions; for instance, the counters annotated scallops in entirely different pictures in station 75049 (figure 8). Few scallops were annotated (1 < n < 5) in this station. Stations with more scallops had a more precise count pattern; the counters "agreed" on high-density images. Even so, there was still a large difference in the counts from images with the highest densities. An image from station 75059 for instance, has gotten approximately 90 scallop annotations from counter "HD", while "MJ" and "JS" counted less than 50 scallops in the same image (figure 8).



Figure 8 Selected video-stations from survey in the Moffen region. The number of Iceland scallops annotated per image, and counter (colours).

#### 3.2 Population structure

Shell height distribution and age-shell height relationship were used to examine the population structure of Iceland scallop in the Bear Island and Moffen regions. I decided to look at the regional scale, because the growth and shell height distribution were very similar among the scallop beds within each region (see figure A2 and figure A3 in appendix 1).

#### 3.2.1 Shell height distribution

Most of the scallops sampled in the Moffen region had a shell height between 50 mm and 75 mm. Few small scallops were caught, and no individuals larger than 100 mm were found, which resulted in a shell height distribution with a slight left skew (figure 9). 72% of the measured individuals had a shell height larger than the minimum legal size of 60 mm, while 15% were smaller 60 mm. 13% of the measured individuals had a shell height of exactly 60 mm.

The shell height distribution in the Bear Island region was also left skewed, with a longer tail of individuals smaller than mean shell height, than individuals larger than mean height (figure 9). The scallops in the Bear Island region were generally higher than the scallops in the Moffen region.



Figure 9 Shell height distribution of Iceland scallop in the Bear Island region (purple) and the Moffen region (yellow). Dashed lines show the means; the yellow line shows the mean in the Moffen region, and the purple line shows the mean in the Bear Island region. The dotted line shows the minimum legal size (60 mm).

The mean (66 mm) and maximum (90 mm) shell heights were lower in the Moffen and Parryflaket scallop beds than in the Bear Island region, where mean height was between 79 mm and 69 mm in the belonging scallop beds. Maximum shell height was between 100 mm and 105 mm in the beds in the Bear Island region (table 2). The highest individual was found in Kveitehola (105 mm), while the scallop bed southeast of the Bear Island had the highest mean size (79 mm).

| Region      | Scallop bed    | Min | Mean | Max |
|-------------|----------------|-----|------|-----|
|             |                |     |      |     |
| Bear Island | Bear Island SE | 13  | 79   | 103 |
|             |                |     |      |     |
|             | Concordia      | 10  | 69   | 100 |
|             | Kveitehola     | 15  | 73   | 105 |
| Moffen      | Moffen         | 15  | 66   | 90  |
|             | Parryflaket    | 27  | 66   | 90  |

Table 2 Shell height (mm) of Iceland scallops from scallop beds within the Moffen and the Bear Island regions in the Svalbard area.

#### 3.2.2 Shell height and age distribution

There was a clear age and shell height relationship in the Iceland scallops in the Moffen region: The shell height increased rapidly in younger individuals, with an almost linear relationship for ages younger than 10, before it started to level off in scallops reaching 15 - 20 years of age. The older scallops found around the Bear Island were larger than in the Moffen area (figure 10). In addition, several individuals older than age 15 were registered in the Bear Island regions, with one individual determined to be 27 years old. In contrast, only one individual in the Moffen region was above 15 years old, representing the registered maximum age of 18.



*Figure 10 The relationship between shell height and age of Iceland scallop in the Moffen region (yellow) and the Bear Island (purple) region, fitted by von Bertalanffy growth functions.* 

According to fitted values from the von Bertalanffy growth function; the estimated asymptotic size in the Moffen region was 76.6 mm (95% CIs: 72.5 - 83.0 mm), compared to 100 mm in the Bear Island region (95% CIs 94.5 – 107 mm). The estimated growth rate *K* and the theoretic age at zero size (*to*) were found to be higher in the Moffen region (0.281 mm/year and 1.99 years) compared to the Bear Island region (0.141 mm/year and 0.609 years), (table 3).

|      | Bear Island region |       |       |  |
|------|--------------------|-------|-------|--|
| Term | Estimate           | CI05  | CI95  |  |
| Sinf | 100                | 94.5  | 107   |  |
| K    | 0.141              | 0.115 | 0.169 |  |
| t0   | 0.609              | 0.159 | 0.997 |  |
|      | Moffen region      |       |       |  |
| Term | Estimate           | CI05  | CI95  |  |
| Sinf | 76.6               | 72.5  | 83.0  |  |
| K    | 0.281              | 0.193 | 0.383 |  |
| t0   | 1.99               | 0.970 | 2.60  |  |

Table 3 The von Bertalanffy growth function outputs for Iceland scallops in the Bear Island and Moffen regions.

#### 3.3 Historical comparison of population structure

The only historic reference for the population structure in the Moffen region is the proportion above minimum landing size registered during the surveys in 1986 and 87 (figure 11). The minimum legal size of 60 mm was not implemented in the Svalbard area when the surveys in 1980s were conducted, instead the minimum legal size implemented along the Norwegian coast (65 mm) was used to estimate the percentage of scallops of harvestable size. Therefore, we calculated here the proportion of the observed population above 65 mm when comparing the shell height rations from recent surveys with ratios from the surveys in the 1980s.



Figure 11 Map of planned stations from surveys in 1986 and 1987 (grey), and stations from the survey in 2022 (orange), in the Moffen region. Gear types used at each station are indicated by shape, and survey areas (scallop beds) through grey shading. Red areas show the protected zones.

The ratio of shell height  $\geq 65$  mm around the Bear Island region in 2019 and 2020 was approximately on the same level as in 1986 and 1987, while the ratio had increased from the

80s in the Moffen region. 55.8% of the sampled scallops had a shell height  $\geq$  65 mm in 1986, and the ratio decreased with 12.6% before the next survey and was only 43.2% in 1987. In 2022, samples from the Moffen region showed that 71.1% of the scallops had a shell height of 65 mm or greater (table 4).

Table 4 The percentage of Iceland scallops  $\geq$  65 mm, in the Svalbard area (Moffen and the Bear Island regions) from surveys in 1986, 1987, 2019, 2020 and 2022.

| Year | Region      | Ratio of shell height ≥ 65 mm (%) |
|------|-------------|-----------------------------------|
| 1986 | Bear Island | 91.5                              |
| 1986 | Moffen      | 55.8                              |
| 1987 | Bear Island | 87.6                              |
| 1987 | Moffen      | 43.2                              |
| 2019 | Bear Island | 80.7                              |
| 2020 | Bear Island | 85.8                              |
| 2022 | Moffen      | 71.1                              |

#### 3.4 Stock and biomass estimates

The scallop density and the biomass were calculated by three approaches; swept area estimate (approach 1), a nonspatial/regular GAMM (approach 2a) and a GAMM including spatial correlation (approach 2b). Table with the model estimates and standard errors from approach 2a and 2b (in addition to matern range, and spatial standard deviation from approach 2b) can be found in appendix 1 (table A2).

The Iceland scallops had a patchy spatial distribution. This patchiness was found on large-scale (figure 12), and on small-scale (e.g., different density within images from the same video station, figure 8). The density varied between 0 - 10 scallops per m<sup>2</sup> within the Moffen scallop bed (figure 12), according to estimations from the spatial GAMM.



Figure 12 Map of the predicted density of scallops in the Moffen and Parryflaket region using a geospatial model (approach 2b; spatial GAMM implemented in sdmTMB). The colour scale shows the predicted scallop density per cell of the integration grid (note the logarithmic scale), while the size of black circles represents the observed scallop density per station. Red line, and red polygons show the protected area in the region.

The maximum density in the Bear Island region was one scallop per  $m^2$  according to the spatial GAMM, while the observed scallop density (corresponds to swept area estimates) was up to 5 scallops per  $m^2$  (see figure A4 in appendix 1).

The three approaches were consistent in the overall trend, estimating highest density of scallops in the Bear Island SE, Moffen and Parryflaket scallop beds (figure 13). There are, however, clear deviations in the absolute estimates and the corresponding uncertainty. For Bear Island SE, the model-based estimates were more conservative than the design-based estimate. For Moffen and Parryflaket, on the other hand, the highest estimates were from the nonspatial GAMM, relatively clearly deviating from the other two approaches. The confidence intervals overlapped in all cases, suggesting that none of the differences were significant.

According to the three approaches, the density in the Moffen bed (outside of the protected area) was between 1.4 (spatial GAMM) and 4.3 scallops (regular GAMM) per m<sup>2</sup>. The density in the Parryflaket bed was between 1.7 (swept area approach) and 3.9 (regular GAMM) scallops per m<sup>2</sup>. Whereas the scallop bed southeast of the Bear Island contained the highest density in the Bear Island region (density between 1.1 (regular GAMM) – 2.2 (swept area approach).

Concordia and Kveitehola had the lowest density with 0.2 (spatial GAMM) – 0.5 (swept area) scallops per m<sup>2</sup> and 0.3 (spatial GAMM) – 0.6 (swept area) scallops per m<sup>2</sup> respectively.

The spatial GAMM produced, in general, the lowest estimates (except for the Parryflaket bed, where the design-based estimate was the lowest). The regular GAMM gave the highest density estimates in the Moffen and Parryflaket beds, while the design-based estimates were highest in the Concordia, Kveitehola and Bear Island SE beds compared to the other two approaches. The regular GAMM estimates had the largest uncertainty as represented by the 95% confidence intervals.



Figure 13 The density estimates of Iceland scallop  $(n / m^2)$ , with error bars showing 95% confidence level, per scallop bed. Based on three estimation approaches; design based swept area, regular generalized linear mixed effects model (GAMM fitted with glmmTMB) and a spatial GAMM (fitted with sdmTMB).

The highest density was found in the Moffen scallop bed. The Moffen bed also covered the largest area and, as abundance is the product of density and area, Moffen also had the highest total estimated abundance (see figure A5 appendix 1). In addition to the highest harvestable

abundance (between 1 015 × 10<sup>6</sup> (spatial GAMM) and 3 164 × 10<sup>6</sup> (regular GAMM) scallops in the bed). The harvestable biomass in the Moffen bed was therefore higher than in any of the other four scallop beds (figure 14). Parryflaket and Bear Island SE also had a high density, but the harvestable biomass was much lower than Moffen because of the smaller size of the two scallop beds. The Concordia and Kveitehola beds cover a larger area than the Parryflaket and Bear Island SE beds, thus containing approximately the same amount of biomass as Bear Island SE and Parryflaket. According to the three estimation approaches, the harvestable biomass in the Moffen bed was between 71.1 × 10<sup>3</sup> tons (spatial GAMM) and 221.5 × 10<sup>3</sup> tons (regular GAMM), and 15.4 × 10<sup>3</sup> tons (swept area) -  $6.59 \times 10^3$  tons (regular GAMM) in the Parryflaket bed. In the scallop beds around the Bear Island, the estimated harvestable biomass based on the three approaches were respectively 14.2 -  $28.4 \times 10^3$  tons,  $17.8 - 44.6 \times 10^3$  tons and  $10.4 - 25.7 \times 10^3$  tons in Bear Island SE, Concordia and Kveitehola. The exact density, harvestable biomass and harvestable abundance estimates can be found in table A3 in appendix 1.



Figure 14 The estimated biomass (1000 tons) of Iceland scallop, with error bars showing 95% confidence level, per scallop bed. Based on three estimation approaches; a design based swept area, a regular generalized linear mixed effects mode (GAMM fitted with glmmTMB) and a spatial GAMM (fitted with sdmTMB).

According to the regular GAMM was the scallop density in the Moffen scallop bed highest at approximately 60 meters depth, with a density higher than 5 scallops per m<sup>2</sup> (figure 15), while the predictions from the spatial GAMM showed that the density was highest at approximately 70 meters depth, with a density around 2.5 scallops per m<sup>2</sup> (figure 15). We did not have sufficient depth samples to be able to assess the depth-density relationship in Bear Island SE, Concordia and Kveitehola.



Figure 15 The estimation of Iceland scallop density (scallop/ $m^2$ ) based on mean station depth per scallop bed, with shaded area showing 95% confidence level. Estimations were based on a "simple" (based on mean of observed depth) spatial GAMM prediction (fitted with sdmTMB), and a regular GAMM (fitted with glmmTMB). The scatter points show the number of scallops counted pr  $m^2$ .

#### 4. DISCUSSION

The relative uncertainty in count estimates was assessed by calculating the coefficient of variation (CV), which showed that the mean counts from stations with low density had the largest relative uncertainty, while stations with high density had a lower relative uncertainty (figure 7 and table A1 in appendix 1). Thus, mean counts in areas with higher density might be more accurate, than in low-density areas.

According to the two demographic characteristics we assessed (shell height and growth) were the scallops in the Bear Island region larger than the ones in the Moffen region (figure 10), while the scallops in the Moffen region grew faster (table 3). Comparison of shell height with historical references showed that the ratio of scallops  $\geq 65$  mm was either larger than the ratio in 1986/87 (Moffen region), or slightly lower (Bear Island region), (table 4).

The three approaches (approach 1; a design based swept area, approach 2a; a regular generalized additive mixed model (GAMM) and approach 2b; a spatial GAMM), were consistent in the overall trend, estimating highest density of scallops in the Bear Island SE, Moffen and Parryflaket scallop beds (figure 13).

#### 4.1 Uncertainty in count estimates

We chose to have several counters to rule out bias and hopefully reduce the uncertainty in the scallop counts. The higher the number of scallops counted per station, the higher the standard deviation (SD) between the different counters, as expected. However, the relative variability, quantified as the coefficient of variation (CV), deceased with higher number of scallops, and increased with low scallop density. Stations with high scallop density contain a lot of scallops and consequently a lot of reference points when assessing whether an individual is living/dead, while stations scarce of scallops contain few reference points, which could a reason of the high CV in stations with few scallops. The variability in counts might also be a result of different experience or fatigue (Franklin et al., 1980, Giguère and Brulotte, 1994). Counting from video recordings have proved to be time consuming and fatiguing. The maximum time a counter could keep full focus is approximately 15 min, according to Rosenkranz and Byersdorfer (2004). Nevertheless, if the difference in mean count was a result of focus-problems, one would assume that there would be a pattern between variation in counting and the number of still-images - that stations with many images would have a higher CV, which we do not see. However, Giguère

and Brulotte (1994) counted during the recording, which might be harder on the concentration, than looking at still-images.

There is a visible difference in the number of counted scallops per still-image between the counters, however, there was limited systematic bias. Instead, trends were mostly the same; pictures with high density had high counts, while pictures with low density had low counts (figure 8). This indicates that intra-picture variation among the counters tends to average each other out across all pictures of a station. Estimating the density from the 2019 and 2020 surveys, only one person counted and chose the relevant still images used for the density estimation. It was the same counter in both surveys, and this "experienced" counter also counted scallops in this survey, in addition to five other counters. The agreement was that we only annotated/counted scallops that we considered living scallops, to get a conservative count. However, the different counters had varied experience with scallop counting, and might also have different assumptions when determining living scallops. Some scallops were planted with the umbo attached to the bottom substrate, and the shell rim upwards, with the shell open. In these cases, it was easy to see the mantel edge with eyespots, thus easy to see that the individuals were alive, while some individuals were placed with the umbo upwards, and therefore harder to assess. One could assume that scallops with the rim down in the sediment might be dead, as it would obstruct free flow of water and nutrients from the surrounding waters. However, this was considerations the counters could have assessed differently based on the varied experience. The counters might have had different assumptions when counting, consequently the number of scallops per picture might vary with the counter. The results here show that there are subjective differences that may result in additional uncertainty through the counting process if only one person was to process a station. More standardization is therefore needed to reduce this effect; all the counters should probably compare, discuss, and have a clearer agreement of what signs should be considered alive/dead in future surveys.

Although counter-specific bias was limited, there was one counter with a tendency towards a higher count per still-image compared to the other counters. Other scallop studies using video recordings to estimate scallop density, noticed more accurate counting with experience (Franklin et al., 1980, Rosenkranz and Byersdorfer, 2004). Based on this, one would assume that the counter who processed the survey in 2019 and 2020 and was also included in this study, had most Iceland scallop counting experience and therefore produced the most accurate counts. However, the consistency of counters themselves was not assessed here. Rosenkranz and Byersdorfer (2004) made each of the counters count a subset of the stations twice to inspect for

bias, we did not have time to do this in this study, but this should perhaps be implemented in future studies. Furthermore, the library of annotated images could be used to develop a machine-learning approach to automatic scallop detection to support counters in the future and contribute to standardize counting performance.

#### 4.2 Population structure

Truncated size distributions towards smaller individuals are a typical sign of strong fishing pressure and, possibly, overfishing (Berkeley et al., 2004). Comparing current size distribution with an unfished reference can therefore provide indications on the population status. The shell height distribution in the Moffen region suggests, accordingly, a recovery of the populations on the scallop beds. The distribution of the shell height samples shows that 84.9% of the sampled scallops in the Moffen area had a shell height of minimum legal size (60 mm) or larger (figure 9). To be able to compare these results with the earlier distributions (surveys from 1986 and 1987) the ratio of scallops equal to or over 65 mm was also calculated. The size structure can be affected by several factors, such as environmental variation and disease (Lyles and Dobson, 1993, Stenseth, 1999, Ciannelli et al., 2004). However, unharvested Iceland scallop beds are usually "accumulated populations", which means that the population contains mostly larger/older individuals. The stock size is strongly determined by density dependent factors (Vahl, 1982, Sundet, 2006) such as available substrate (Underwood and Denley, 1984, Gaines and Roughgarden, 1985). In addition, it has been suggested that the feeding mode of Iceland scallops, filter feeding, may lead to ingestion of own offspring when population density is high (Sundet and Zimmermann, 2020). Combined, these density-dependent factors may strongly limit recruitment in an unfished population, resulting an over-compensatory, Ricker-type stockrecruitment relationship (Ricker, 1954, Zimmermann et al., 2018).

Based on the observed size structure, one could argue that the stock has grown back to this aggregated state that was found before the fishing started. The shell height distribution resembles the distribution before the fishery started in 1986. In fact, the number of scallops over the height of 65 mm was 15.3% higher than in 1986 in the Moffen region (table 4). The survey in 1987 showed the start of a decreasing trend in shell height that led to the closing of Iceland scallop harvest in 1992 (Sundet, 2006). Given that we found a higher proportion of scallops above 65 mm, we can assume that the size distribution and, thus, the population in the Moffen area might have recovered. This conclusion is constrained by a limited sample size, given that at only 13 stations biological samples were collected. None of those was within the

protected area that was sampled in the survey of 1986 and 1987. Additional samples from outside and inside the protected area could help to strengthen the assessment of the stock status and help to uncover possible spatial variation in the size composition.

In contrast to the Moffen region, the ratio of scallops larger than 65 mm in the Bear Island region was 10.8% lower in 2019 compared to 1986. This decrease can be a result of the past overfishing – the stock has might not recovered to its former distribution. Medina et al. (2007) suggested that the failed recovery in the scallop species *Argopecten ventricosus* in the Los Angles could be lack of available substrate for larvae settlement, predation, or environmental variation - perhaps these factors can apply for Iceland scallop recovery as well. However, given the relatively small difference it might be caused by observation uncertainty due to the limited sample size. We cannot know for sure that the current ratio of individuals over 65 mm is over or under the ratio in 1986, however the distributions might be used together with density estimates as an indicator that the population in the Bear Island region, as in the Moffen region, has increased to what one might expect after 30 years without harvesting. Our results are in line with the conclusions from (Sundet and Zimmermann, 2020). Compared to the survey in 1986, the year after a fishery commenced in the Svalbard area, the size distribution seems to be restored.

The survey showed a difference in shell height between the Bear Island region and the Moffen area; the mean shell height was lower in the Moffen area (table 2). This has also been registered in earlier research. The difference in size could be a result of temperature differences between the two regions (Sundet, 2006); however, currents bring "warmer" Atlantic water both to the Bear Island region (Wiborg, 1970, Loeng, 1991) and the Moffen region (Sundet, 2006, Piechura, 2009). During the survey in 1986, Sundet and Rubach recorded the surface and bottom temperatures both in the Bear Island and Moffen region. The bottom temperatures were respectively between 2.09 - 2.99 °C and between 3.07 - 4.97 °C in September 1986. The estimated growth rate K and the theoretic age at zero size  $(t_0)$  were found to be higher in the Moffen region (0.281 mm/year and 1.99 years) compared to the Bear Island region (0.141 mm/year and 0.609 years), (table 4). The higher growth rate (mm/year) in the Moffen region could be a result of the higher temperatures. However the growth rate (mm/year) was lower in the scallops in the Moffen region compared to the Bear Island region, from the survey where temperatures were measured in 1986 (Rubach and Sundet, 1987). The higher growth rate K in the Moffen region is most likely caused by few to no samples of the smallest and youngest individuals, that gave an inaccurate to-value (age at year 0), and to should have been fixed to zero instead. Research on growth of Iceland scallops showed that the scallop growth is mainly nutrient limited (Sundet and Vahl, 1981, Blicher et al., 2010) and that temperature is not that important in relation to growth (Sundet and Vahl, 1981), which means that if the growth (mm/year) truly is higher in the Moffen region, it could has been by change in nutrition availability compared to the 1980s. However, the scallops in the Bear Island region grew larger than the scallops in the Moffen area, where the shell height growth trend declines around the age of 15 years (figure 10). Since research shows that nutritional conditions affect the growth more than the temperature (Vahl, 1978, Wallace and Reinsnes, 1985, Thorarinsdóttir and G, 1994), the lower shell height in the Moffen area might be limited by nutritional shortage. Considering the Moffen region is at a higher longitude (~ 80° N) than the Bear Island region (~ 74° N), this will affect the day-length in the two regions, which again will affect primary production in the area. Since the Bear Island is farther south, it will get longer periods with light, hence longer periods with primary production (Smith Jr and Sakshaug, 2013). Which could contribute to the shell height difference in the two regions. The size pattern seems to be the same as in the 1980s; the scallops grew lager in the Bear Island region compared to the Moffen area (Rubach and Sundet, 1987).

#### 4.3 Stock and biomass estimates

Estimated density (scallop/m<sup>2</sup>) in the Moffen and Parryflaket region was highest independent of the approach (figure 13). Because the scallops in this region were generally smaller than in the Bear Island region, this might lower the abundance of individuals over minimum legal size. Even though, the individuals generally have higher shell hight in the Bear Island region, the difference in percentage over/equal to 60 mm was not that large; 84.9% in the Moffen region and 85.1% in the Bear Island region. The shell height in the Moffen region had a minimal effect on the abundance of scallops over/equal to 60 mm. Thus, the abundance of individuals over minimum legal size were larger in the Moffen region than in the Bear Island region (see figure A5 in appendix 1). Moffen is, in addition, the largest scallop bed, which results in the highest scallop abundance and biomass. Since the Moffen is both the largest scallop bed (in the Svalbard region) and seems have the highest density of Iceland scallop per m<sup>2</sup>, the estimated harvestable biomass was considerable larger in this area compared to the other beds despite a slightly lower proportion of scallops above minimum landing size. Parryflaket also had a high density, however the number of samples were low compared to the Moffen area, thus the density estimations are more uncertain around Parryflaket. Even though, the density might be as high as around Moffen, the Parryflaket bed is considerable smaller in size, and the total abundance is therefore comparatively low.

The mean density estimations based on the surveys in 1986 and 1987 were based on counts from photos taken with Benthos underwater camera. The method, photo quality and number of photos differ too much from the ones used in this study, to be able to compare the estimated densities then and now – but the general trend is the same; the density was higher in the Moffen region than in the Bear Island region. Moffen was also the bed with the highest occurrence of Iceland scallop in the Svalbard FPZ (Sundet and Rubach, 1988).

#### 4.4 Uncertainty in density and biomass estimates

All the three approaches (a swept area estimate, a regular generalized additive mixed model (GAMM) and a spatial GAMM) used to assess the stock, are based on the mean of the counted scallops per m<sup>2</sup>, because the data from 2019 and 2020 contained only the mean value of scallops per m<sup>2</sup>. However, the counting data from the survey in 2022 allowed us to check how using the median of the count density affected the density estimations. The median values gave more conservative estimates, and consequently lower scallop abundance. Since we compare our results from the 2022 survey with the data and estimates from the 2019 and 2020 data, we decided to keep using the mean value in our estimations. However, the choice of mean or median as predictor variable should perhaps be scrutinized more in future stock estimates.

The three estimation approaches calculated highest density of scallops in the Moffen region (the two scallop beds; Moffen and Parryflaket), and the bed southeast of the Bear Island (figure 13). The spatial GAMM gave the most conservative estimates (except for the swept area estimated around Parryflaket). The regular GAMM gave estimates with the highest uncertainty, while the spatial GAMM and the swept area estimates had less uncertainty. The spatial GAMM estimates include more data points, explaining more of the variance than the other models (Anderson et al., 2022), resulting in estimates with lower uncertainty. The swept area model is the simplest one, assuming uniform distribution and no random effect. The model did not take the scallops patchy distribution or depth relation into consideration. Even though the swept area approach make it inadequate to fit the clustered distribution of Iceland scallops. However, this approach was used in earlier stock estimations, and consequently interesting to check when considering method-based differences in distribution in earlier studies compared to newer statistical models. The swept area estimates varied compared to the other models; the swept

area density is highest (compared to the density of the two statistical models), in the scallop bed Southeast of the Bear Island, in Concordia and Kveitehola, while giving the lowest density estimate in Parryflaket and second highest density around Moffen. To conclude; the swept area model does not estimate density in a specific direction compared to the other models.

The sdmTMB models needs a large quantity of environmental data to make accurate predictions on species distributions (Anderson et al., 2022). Estimates of the design-based and the nonspatial GAMM approaches depend on the assumptions that observed mean density is representative for the entire scallop bed, with assumptions on mean bottom depth acting in addition as scaling factor in the nonspatial GAMM. The latter could be partially resolved by taking the depth distribution within a scallop bed more explicitly into account, like the integration grid used for the spatial GAMM. The uncertainty in the nonspatial GAMM estimates were largest for the three scallop beds: Bear Island SE, Parryflaket and Moffen. The large uncertainty reflects partly the low sample sizes in connection with large variation in density, especially on Bear Island SE and Parryflaket. This also indicates that the design-based approach might not represent uncertainty adequately. Confidence intervals in the design-based approach were based on standard errors of the mean density, which implicitly – and given the distribution of observations, incorrectly, assumes a normal distribution of observations. The spatial GAMM provides therefore an adequate solution, as it allows to account for spatial correlation in the distribution in addition to depth-related variation. Using a geostatistical approach such as the spatial GAMM presented here to estimate scallop abundance is therefore recommended. The density estimates from the spatial GAMM are lower than the other model estimates (expect in the Parryflaket bed), illustrating that including explanatory variables and spatial variation tends to give more conservative estimates. Considering that we can assume it the most credible of the three approaches we use, this illustrates that simpler approaches might easily overestimate scallop density. Thus, accounting for spatial variation in abundance estimates will help to reduce risks for future quota advice. The approach is, furthermore, flexible to expand the model configuration with habitat and environmental information as well as temporal correlation if more data becomes available in the future (Anderson et al., 2022).

When comparing to a "simple" prediction from the spatial GAMM that assumes a fixed mean depth, as in the nonspatial GAMM, one can see that including the depth information affects the estimation of the density and its uncertainty. Without an explicit spatial prediction of density across an integration grid, the result of the spatial GAMM resembles therefore much more the

ones from the nonspatial GAMM (see figure A6 appendix 2). The potential bias of not explicitly account for (variation in) bottom depth becomes especially clear for estimates within the protected Moffen area, where it is relatively shallow.

Stock estimations based solely on a few research cruises contain a lot of uncertainty from both the sampling and counting process in addition to the choice of statistical models. Consequently, stock estimates from surveys are normally only used to assess relative changes in abundance through time, instead of determining absolute stock units (abundance, density and biomass), (Hart et al., 2008). As relative few observations are extrapolated to a large stock area, minor inaccuracies and uncertainties in density estimates can easily scale to substantial deviations in absolute stock size. Our assumptions on the representativeness of observations might be also problematic given the many sources of observation errors. The video sledge's random pausing on the sea floor gave a random assemblage of still-images. Yet, when watching the videos and selecting these still-images, it becomes evident that the pausing of the sledge may not be representative for the video transect, and, subsequently, the scallop bed. Based on observation, I am under the impression that the sledge seldomly paused in areas with the highest scallop densities. Scallops prefer areas with complex bottom sediment and stronger currents (Ekman, 1953, Wiborg, 1962), where visibility is poorer and it's harder for the vessel to keep a good pace. However, this might just contribute to a conservative estimate. Factors as marine snow and flowing sediment distributions also influenced the picture selection. Nevertheless, an earlier assessment of video and dredge technics regarding density estimation of scallops, showed that the video samples gave more accurate estimates (Giguère and Brulotte, 1994). Video surveying is, furthermore, less invasive, as its impacts on the bottom substrate and benthic organisms are very minor compared to dredging (Rosenkranz and Byersdorfer, 2004). Further strengthening video surveys by improving the quality of data collected is therefore recommended. Future surveys should therefore explore possibilities to collect images of high quality more consistently and comprehensively. Possible options are either to focus fully on a still-image approach, for instance with drop camera, or explore new technology that potentially allows for better quality from videos or image reels. The latter might be provided by automated underwater vehicles specifically designed for this purpose.

#### 4.5 Future work

Given the limited resources to survey a species such as Iceland scallop and the need to provide advice on a potential reopening in the Moffen region, the data from the survey in 2022 should contribute to as much background information on the stock as needed, to be able to compare future stock assessments with the current stock conditions. I therefore propose using the data from the 2022 survey to the following research:

- The density estimations in this survey will be the base when determining a sustainable harvesting quota. Considering the uncertainties within stock estimations, I would suggest using the same measure as used when determining the quota for the Bear Island region in 2019; instead of using the maximum sustainable yield (MSY), rather use a more precautionary measure such as the "Pretty Good Yield" (PGY), which is at least 80% of possible MSY (Hilborn, 2010). Further, the uncertainty in stock estimates should be thoroughly propagated and explored in a management strategy evaluation framework. Accounting for the spatial dimension of both the stock distribution and the fishery will be important for the advisory process.
- 2) Since the video samples from the survey from 2022 always were coupled with dredge samples from the same area, the data can be used to look at the "catchability" of video or dredge gear to potentially calibrate the gear types against each other and use dredge data in future estimates of the stock size. Dredge is known as a semiquantitative method, because of a lot of uncertainties even with fixed sampling conditions, e.g., the dredge might fill up in the start of the dredge station not having room for more substrate or get stuck and not cover the distance as planned (Mann et al., 2004). In addition, the calculations based on video-counting have shown to give more accurate density estimations (Giguère and Brulotte, 1994). However, it could be interesting to determine how comparable observations are between the two methods.
- 3) The video samples within the protected area provide information on the distribution and state inside and outside of the protected area. This baseline can be used to follow the development of densities outside and inside the protected area if fishing outside of the protected area is restarted.

We did not weigh the scallops during the survey in 2022, which I would recommend in future surveys. Here, as in previous reports, biomass calculations were based on scaling abundance above minimum landing size with an observed mean weight for this part of the stock. However,

this ignores variation in weight both linked to stock structure and among regions. Collecting individual weight data systematically would allow to estimate region- or bed-specific length-weight relationships and estimate biomass more precisely. Other future improvements would be that the counter discuss and evaluate each other's counting or going through a selection of stations once more to rule out counting bias.

#### 4.6 Conclusion

This study aimed at quantifying person-specific uncertainty and bias in annotations of Iceland scallops in images from video footage, using scallop densities from annotated images to estimate the stock size, and determining the stock status from size distribution and age data. The following main results and conclusions were attained:

- 1) Using more people to count the number of scallops on still-images from video recordings showed variation between the counters, but only limited differences in mean densities or systematic bias. *This entails that it is not ideal to have only one counter, although that is the most feasible given limited capacity. For future improvement a suggestion would be to repeat this kind to counting comparison and standardization exercise and repeated counting of a subset of stations to rule out bias. Furthermore, the annotated images could be used to develop a machine-learning approach to automatic scallop detection to support counters in the future and contribute to standardize counting performance.*
- 2) The ratio of scallops with shell height of 65 mm or over was 71.1% in the Moffen area, while this ratio before the harvesting started in 1986 was 55.8%. *This indicates that the stock in the Moffen area might have recovered to the original shell height distribution before the harvesting started*.
- 3) The mean density of scallops in the Moffen scallop bed was higher than the Bear Island region, as before the fisheries in the 1980s. This means that the Moffen scallop bed is still the most abundant scallop bed of the ones we have looked at, in the Svalbard region. The combination of recovery of shell height distribution and abundance indicate that the Moffen scallop bed can be opened for harvesting.

# 5. REFERENCES

- ANDERSON, S. C., WARD, E. J., ENGLISH, P. A. & BARNETT, L. A. 2022. sdmTMB: an R package for fast, flexible, and user-friendly generalized linear mixed effects models with spatial and spatiotemporal random fields. *bioRxiv The Preprint Server for Biology*, 2022.03. 24.485545. https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.03.24.485545
- ANSELL, A. 1991. Three European scallops: Pecten maximus, Chlamys (Aequipecten) opercularis and C.(Chlamys) varia. *In:* SANDRA SHUMWAY & JAY PARSONS (eds.) *Scallops: biology, ecology and aquaculture.* 1. ed. Amsterdam, Netherlands: Elsevier Science.
- ARSENAULT, D. J. & HIMMELMAN, J. H. 1998. Size-related decrease in spatial refuge use by Iceland scallops Chlamys islandica: ontogenetic behavioural changes or decreasing refuge availability? *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 162, 153-161.
- BAKKA, H., RUE, H., FUGLSTAD, G. A., RIEBLER, A., BOLIN, D., ILLIAN, J., KRAINSKI, E., SIMPSON, D. & LINDGREN, F. 2018. Spatial modeling with R-INLA: A review. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Computational Statistics, 10. https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.03.24.485545
- BERG, K., LUMBYE, J. & OCKELMANN, K. W. 1958. Seasonal and experimental variations of the oxygen consumption of the limpet ancylus-fluviatilis (of Müller). *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 35, 43-73. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.35.1.43
- BERKELEY, S. A., HIXON, M. A., LARSON, R. J. & LOVE, M. S. 2004. Fisheries sustainability via protection of age structure and spatial distribution of fish populations. *Fisheries*, 29, 23-32. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8446(2004)29[23:FSVPOA]2.0.CO;2
- BEUKERS-STEWART, B. D., VAUSE, B. J., MOSLEY, M. W., ROSSETTI, H. L. & BRAND, A.
   R. 2005. Benefits of closed area protection for a population of scallops. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 298, 189-204. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps298189
- BLICHER, M. E., RYSGAARD, S. & SEJR, M. K. 2010. Seasonal growth variation in Chlamys islandica (Bivalvia) from sub-Arctic Greenland is linked to food availability and temperature. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 407, 71-86. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps08536
- BRAND 2006. The European scallop fisheries for Pecten maximus, Aequipecten opercularis and Mimachlamys varia. *Developments in aquaculture and fisheries science*. Elsevier.
- BROOKS, M. E., KRISTENSEN, K., VAN BENTHEM, K. J., MAGNUSSON, A., BERG, C. W., NIELSEN, A., SKAUG, H. J., MACHLER, M. & BOLKER, B. M. 2017. glmmTMB balances speed and flexibility among packages for zero-inflated generalized linear mixed modeling. *The R journal*, 9, 378-400. https://doi.org/10.3929/ethz-b-000240890
- CIANNELLI, L., CHAN, K.-S., BAILEY, K. M. & STENSETH, N. C. 2004. Nonadditive effects of the environment on the survival of a large marine fish population. *Ecology Ecological Society of America*, 85, 3418-3427. https://doi.org/10.1890/03-0755
- COLLIE, J. S., ESCANERO, G. A. & VALENTINE, P. C. 1997. Effects of bottom fishing on the benthic megafauna of Georges Bank. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 155, 159-172. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps155159
- COUNCIL, N. R. 2002. *Effects of trawling and dredging on seafloor habitat,* United states of America, National Academies Press.
- EKMAN, S. 1953. Zoogeography of the sea, London, Sidgwick & Jackson.
- ERIKSSON, H. 1986. Iceland scallop (Chlamys islandica (OF Müller)). Hafrannsoknir, 35, 5-40.
- FRANKLIN, A., PICKETT, G., HOLME, N. & BARRETT, R. 1980. Surveying stocks of scallops (Pecten maximus) and queens (Chlamys opercularis) with underwater television. *journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, 60, 181-191. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0025315400024243

- GAINES, S. & ROUGHGARDEN, J. 1985. Larval settlement rate: a leading determinant of structure in an ecological community of the marine intertidal zone. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 82, 3707-3711. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.82.11.3707
- GALAND, P. E. & FEVOLDEN, S.-E. 2000. Population structure of Chlamys islandica in the Northeast Atlantic—northern stocks compared with a southern relict population. *Sarsia*, 85, 183-188. https://doi.org/10.1080/00364827.2000.10414570
- GARCIA, E. G. 2006. The Fishery for Iceland Scallop (Chlamys islandica) in the Northeast Atlantic.
   Advances in Marine Biology. Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2881(06)51001-6
- GIGUÈRE, M. & BRULOTTE, S. 1994. Comparison of sampling techniques, video and dredge, in estimating sea scallop(Placopecten magellanicus, Gmelin) populations. *Journal of Shellfish Research*, 13, 25-30. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.82.11.3707
- HANSEN, K. & NEDREAAS, K. H. 1986. Measurements of Iceland scallop (Chlamys islandica Müller) in the Spitzbergen and Bear Island regions.
- HART, A. M., FABRIS, F. P., BROWN, J. & MURPHY, D. 2008. Digital video surveys of abalone (Haliotis sp.) stocks by commercial fishers in Western Australia. *Fisheries Research*, 93, 305-314. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fishres.2008.06.002
- HARTIG, F. 2022. DHARMa: residual diagnostics for hierarchical (multi-level/mixed) regression models. . *R package version 0.4.6*.
- HATEFI, F. 2021. Spatiotemporal models to improve stock size abundance indices derived from stratified bottom-trawl surveys, with an application to witch flounder. Memorial University of Newfoundland.
- HAUAN, M. A. 1988. Haneskjell : fiskerinæringas nye 'kjendis', Tromsø, Tromsø museum, Ottar.
- HILBORN, R. 2010. Pretty good yield and exploited fishes. *Marine Policy*, 34, 193-196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2009.04.013
- JENKINS, S., BEUKERS-STEWART, B. & BRAND, A. 2001. Impact of scallop dredging on benthic megafauna: a comparison of damage levels in captured and non-captured organisms. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 215, 297-301. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps215297
- JENNINGS, S., FREEMAN, S., PARKER, R., DUPLISEA, D. & DINMORE, T. 2005. Ecosystem consequences of bottom fishing disturbance. *American Fisheries Society Symposium*, 41, 73-90.
- JOHANNESSEN, O. 1973. Age determination in Chlamys islandica. Astarte, 6, 15-20.
- JONASSON, J. P., THORARINSDOTTIR, G., EIRIKSSON, H., SOLMUNDSSON, J. & MARTEINSDOTTIR, G. 2007. Collapse of the fishery for Iceland scallop (Chlamys islandica) in Breidafjordur, West Iceland. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 64, 298-308. https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsl028
- JONASSON, J. P., THORARINSDOTTIR, G. G., EIRIKSSON, H. & MARTEINSDOTTIR, G. 2004. Temperature tolerance of Iceland scallop, Chlamys islandica (OF Muller) under controlled experimental conditions. *Aquaculture research* 35, 1405-1414. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2109.2004.01159.x
- LOENG, H. 1991. Features of the physical oceanographic conditions of the Barents Sea. *Polar Research*, 10, 5-18. https://doi.org/10.3402/polar.v10i1.6723
- LYLES, A. M. & DOBSON, A. P. 1993. Infectious disease and intensive management: population dynamics, threatened hosts, and their parasites. *Journal of zoo and wildlife medicine*, 315-326.
- MANN, R. L., SOUTHWORTH, M., HARDING, J. M. & WESSON, J. 2004. A comparison of dredge and patent tongs for estimation of oyster populations. *Journal of Shellfish Research*, 23, 387.

MEDINA, B., GUZMAN, H. M. & MAIR, J. M. 2007. Failed recovery of a collapsed scallop Argopecten ventricosus fishery in Las Perlas Archipelago, Panama. *Journal of Shellfish Research*, 26, 9-15. https://doi.org/10.2983/0730-8000(2007)26[9:FROACS]2.0.CO;2

MINCHER, R. 2008. New Zealand's Challenger Scallop. *In:* TOWNSEND, R., SHOTTON, R. & UCHIDA, H. (eds.) *Case studies in fisheries self-governance*. Rome.

MISUND, O. A., HEGGLAND, K., SKOGSETH, R., FALCK, E., GJØSÆTER, H., SUNDET, J., WATNE, J. & LØNNE, O. J. 2016. Norwegian fisheries in the Svalbard zone since 1980. Regulations, profitability and warming waters affect landings. *Polar Science*, 10, 312-322.

MOTTET, M. G. 1979. A review of the fishery biology and culture of scallops, State of Washington, Department of Fisheries.

NEDREJORD, R. 2023. Fiskeribladet 01-23 Hadde suksess med haneskjellhøsting. Fiskeribladet.

OGANESYAN, S. 1994. Biological characteristics and time of Icelandic scallop (Chlamys islandica) spawning on the Kanin Bank and oV the Bear Island-Spitsbergen. *International Council for the Exploration of the Sea CM*.

OPSTAD, D. 1988. Skjelltrålerbygginga-hva skjedde. Tromsø museum: Ottar. 170.

ORENSANZ, J. L., PARMA, A. M., TURK, T. & VALERO, J. 2006. Dynamics, assessment and management of exploited natural populations. *Developments in Aquaculture and Fisheries Science*. Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2881(06)51001-6

PEBESMA, E. & BIVAND, R. S. 2005. S classes and methods for spatial data: the sp package. *R news*, 5, 9-13.

- PEDERSEN, H. R., LIEN, E. M., TOKLE YRI, H. A., PEDERSEN, S. T., STOKKE, E. & LUTNÆS, G. 2015. Forvaltningsplan for Nordaust-Svalbard og Søraust-Svalbard naturreservater 2015-2023. In: SVALBARD, Rapportnr 1/2015. Sysselmannen på Svalbard, miljøvernavdelinga
- PEDERSEN, S. 1988. Inshore scallop resources, Chlamys islandica, in the Nuuk area West Greenland. International Council for the Exploration of the Sea CM.
- PEDERSEN, S. A. 1994. Population parameters of the Iceland scallop (Chlamys islandica (Müller)) from West Greenland. *J Northwest Atl Fish Sci*, 16, 75-87.
- PIECHURA, J., & WALCZOWSKI, W. 2009. Warming of the West Spitsbergen Current and sea ice north of Svalbard. . *Oceanologia*, 51, 147-164.
- RHODES, E. 1991. Fisheries and aquaculture of the bay scallop, Argopecten irradians, in the eastern United States. *In:* SHUMWAY, S. G. & PARSONS, J. (eds.) *Scallops: biology, ecology and aquaculture.* Amsterdam: Elsevier. P. 913-924.
- RICKER, W. E. 1954. Stock and recruitment. *Journal of the Fisheries Board of Canada*, 11, 559-623. https://doi.org/10.1139/f54-039
- ROSENKRANZ, G. E. & BYERSDORFER, S. C. 2004. Video scallop survey in the eastern Gulf of Alaska, USA. *Fisheries Research*, 69, 131-140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fishres.2004.01.007
- RUBACH, S. & SUNDET, J. 1987. Ressurskartlegging av haneskjell (Chlamys islandica (OF Müller)) ved Jan Mayen og i Svalbardsonen i 1986. *Rapport fra Institutt for fiskerifag, Universitetet i Tromsø, Ser. b: Ressursbiologi.*
- RUDDERS, D., DUPAUL, W. & YOCHUM, N. 2006. Rotational area management in the northwest Atlantic Sea Scallop Fishery: Are current management strategies flexible enough? *Journal of Shellfish Research*, 25, 771.
- SARS, G. O. 1878. Bidrag til kundskaben om norges arktiske fauna: I. Mollusca regionis arcticae norvegiae. Oversigt over de i norges arktiske region forekommende bløddyr, Christiania, W. Brøgger.
- SHUMWAY, S. E. & PARSONS, G. J. 2016. *Scallops: biology, ecology, aquaculture, and fisheries, 3. ed.* Amsterdam, Elsevier.

SKRESLET, S. 1973. Spawning in Chlamys islandica (OF Müller) in relation to temperature variations caused by vernal meltwater discharge. *Astarte*, 6, 9-14.

SKRESLET, S. & BRUN, E. 1969. On the reproduction of Chlamys islandica (OF Müller) and its realtion to depth and temparature. Tromsø museum: Universitetsforlaget.

SMITH JR, W. O. & SAKSHAUG, E. 2013. Polar phytoplankton. *In:* SMITH JR, W. O. (ed.) *Polar* oceanography: Chemistry, biology, and geology. San Diego, California: Academic Press Inc. .

SOOT-RYEN, T. 1924. Faunistische Untersuchungen im Ramfjorde, &c.

STENSETH, N. 1999. Population cycles in voles and lemmings: density dependence and phase dependence in a stochastic world. *Oikos*, 87, 427-461. https://doi.org/10.2307/3546809

SUNDET, J. 1985. Are there potential recources of Iceland scallops (Chlamys islandica) in the Barents Sea? *International Council for the Exploration of the Sea*.

SUNDET, J. & LEE, J. 1984. Seasonal variations in gamete development in the Iceland scallop, Chlamys islandica. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, 64, 411-416.

SUNDET, J. & RUBACH, S. 1988. Kartlegging av haneskjellforekomster ved Jan Mayen og i Svalbardsonen i 1987. Fiskeridirektoratets havforskningsinstitutt

SUNDET, J. & VAHL, O. 1981. Seasonal changes in dry weight and biochemical composition of the tissues of sexually mature and immature Iceland scallops, Chlamys islandica. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, 61, 1001-1010.

SUNDET, J. & ZIMMERMANN, F. 2020. Bestandskartlegging av haneskjell (Chlamys islandica) ved Bjørnøya. Havforskningsinstitutt, 2020-27.

SUNDET, J. H. 2006. Overvåkning av haneskjellfelter ved Bjørnøya og Moffen i 2006.Havforskningsinstituttet, 2006-8.

SUNDET, J. H., JENSSEN, M., FUHRMANN, M. M. & OUG, E. 2019. Effekter på bunnfauna av nytt fangstredskap for haneskjell-Testing av TauTech's Harvester. Havforskningsinstituttet, 2019-19.

TEAM, P. 2023a. RStudio: integrated development environment for R. *Boston, MA*. http://www.posit.co/

TEAM, R. C. 2023b. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. https://www.R-project.org/

THORARINSDÓTTIR & G, G. 1994. The Iceland scallop, Chlamys islandica (OF Müller), in Breidafjördur, west Iceland. III. Growth in suspended culture. *Aquaculture*, 120, 295-303. https://doi.org/10.1016/0044-8486(94)90086-8

THORARINSDÓTTIR, G. G. 1991. The Iceland scallop, Chlamys islandica (OF Müller) in Breidafjördur, west Iceland. I. Spat collection and growth during the first year. *Aquaculture*, 97, 13-23.

THORARINSDÓTTIR, G. G. 1993. The iceland scallop, Chlamys islandica (OF Müller), in Breidafjördur, West Iceland: II. Gamete development and spawning. *Aquaculture*, 110, 87-96.

THRUSH, S. F. & DAYTON, P. K. 2002. Disturbance to Marine Benthic Habitats by Trawling and Dredging: Implications for Marine Biodiversity. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics*, 33, 449-473.

UNDERWOOD, A. & DENLEY, E. 1984. 1984. Paradigms, explanations and generalizations in models for the structure of intertidal communities on rocky shores. *Ecological communities: conceptual issues and the evidence*, 151-180.

VAHL, O. 1978. Seasonal changes in oxygen consumption of the Iceland scallop (Chlamys islandica (OF Müller)) from 700° N. Ophelia, 17, 143-154. https://doi.org/10.1080/00785326.1978.10425478

- VAHL, O. 1981a. Energy transformations by the Iceland scallop, Chlamys islandica (O. F. Müller), from 70°N. I. The age-specific energy budget and net growth efficiency. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 53, 281-296. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-0981(81)90026-5
- VAHL, O. 1981b. Energy transformations by the Iceland scallop, Chlamys islandica (OF Müller), from 70 N. II. The population energy budget. *Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology*, 53, 297-303. https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-0981(81)90027-7
- VAHL, O. 1982. Long-term variations in recruitment of the Iceland scallop, Chlamys Islandica from Northern Norway. *Netherlands Journal of Sea Research*, 16, 80-87.
- VEALE, L., HILL, A., HAWKINS, S. & BRAND, A. 2000. Effects of long-term physical disturbance by commercial scallop fishing on subtidal epifaunal assemblages and habitats. *Marine Biology*, 137, 325-337.
- VIHTAKARI, M. 2022. ggOceanMaps: Plot data on oceanographic maps using "ggplot2". *R package version*, 1.
- VON BERTALANFFY, L. 1938. A quantitative theory of organic growth (inquiries on growth laws. II). *Human biology*, 10, 181-213.
- WALLACE, J. C. & REINSNES, T. G. 1985. The significance of various environmental parameters for growth of the Iceland scallop, Chlamys islandica (Pectinidae), in hanging culture. *Aquaculture*, 44, 229-242. https://doi.org/10.1016/0044-8486(85)90247-9
- WIBORG, K. F. 1962. Haneskjellet, Chlamys islandica (OF Müller) og dets utbredelse i noen nordnorske fjorder. Fiskeridirektoratets havforskningsinstitutt.
- WIBORG, K. F. 1963. Some observations on the Iceland scallop Chlamys islandica (Müller) in Norwegian waters. Fiskeridirektoratets havforskningsinstitutt
- WIBORG, K. F. 1970. Utbredelse av haneskjell (Chlamys islandica MÜLLER) på Bjørnøybankene. Fiskeridirektoratets havforskningsinstitutt.
- WIBORG, K. F., HANSEN, K. & OLSEN, H. E. 1974. Haneskjell (Chlamys inslandica Müller) ved Spitsbergen og Bjørnøya-Undersøkelser i 1973.
- WICKHAM, H., AVERICK, M., BRYAN, J., CHANG, W., MCGOWAN, L. D. A., FRANÇOIS, R., GROLEMUND, G., HAYES, A., HENRY, L. & HESTER, J. 2019. Welcome to the Tidyverse. *Journal of open source software*, 4, 1686.
- ZIMMERMANN, F., RICARD, D. & HEINO, M. 2018. Density regulation in Northeast Atlantic fish populations: density dependence is stronger in recruitment than in somatic growth. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 87, 672-681. https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.03.24.485545

# 6. APPENDICES

# 6.1 Appendix 1: Additions to results

Table A1 Overview of video-stations from Iceland scallop survey in the Moffen region, with standard deviation (SD), mean, coefficient of variation (CV) of the mean values across counters, number of images (n) and counted scallops (n) and per station.

| SERIALNUMBER | SD   | MEAN | CV   | IMAGES (N) | COUNTED SCALLOPS (N) |
|--------------|------|------|------|------------|----------------------|
| 75006        | 0.65 | 4.53 | 0.14 | 41         | 14                   |
| 75008        | 0.33 | 0.75 | 0.44 | 56         | 2                    |
| 75010        | 0.06 | 0.09 | 0.69 | 36         | 0                    |
| 75012        | 0.47 | 1.02 | 0.46 | 94         | 4                    |
| 75013        | 0.49 | 2.98 | 0.16 | 76         | 12                   |
| 75014        | 0.42 | 4.95 | 0.09 | 98         | 20                   |
| 75016        | 0.69 | 1.52 | 0.45 | 95         | 5                    |
| 75018        | 0.41 | 0.89 | 0.46 | 49         | 3                    |
| 75019        | 0.52 | 0.60 | 0.87 | 85         | 1                    |
| 75020        | 0.04 | 0.06 | 0.67 | 37         | 0                    |
| 75021        | 0.01 | 0.02 | 0.67 | 34         | 0                    |
| 75024        | 1.64 | 2.77 | 0.59 | 44         | 11                   |
| 75025        | 0.11 | 0.20 | 0.55 | 43         | 1                    |
| 75027        | 3.30 | 7.95 | 0.42 | 68         | 24                   |
| 75030        | 0.00 | 0.00 | NaN  | 3          | 0                    |
| 75031        | 0.10 | 0.09 | 1.15 | 17         | 0                    |
| 75033        | 0.94 | 2.00 | 0.47 | 3          | 4                    |
| 75034        | 0.83 | 4.61 | 0.18 | 101        | 14                   |
| 75038        | 0.05 | 0.07 | 0.82 | 15         | 0                    |
| 75039        | 0.40 | 0.30 | 1.32 | 25         | 1                    |
| 75040        | 0.32 | 0.33 | 0.96 | 16         | 1                    |
| 75041        | 0.12 | 0.44 | 0.29 | 8          | 2                    |
| 75042        | 0.21 | 0.21 | 0.98 | 43         | 1                    |
| 75043        | 0.04 | 0.02 | 1.73 | 102        | 0                    |
| 75044        | 0.03 | 0.05 | 0.47 | 28         | 0                    |
| 75045        | 0.23 | 0.93 | 0.25 | 40         | 2                    |
| 75046        | 0.06 | 0.06 | 0.92 | 53         | 0                    |

| 75047 | 0.37 | 0.64 | 0.58 | 94  | 2  |
|-------|------|------|------|-----|----|
| 75048 | 0.07 | 0.08 | 0.85 | 65  | 0  |
| 75049 | 0.04 | 0.06 | 0.61 | 49  | 0  |
| 75050 | 0.00 | 0.00 | NaN  | 44  | 0  |
| 75051 | 0.10 | 0.07 | 1.41 | 14  | 0  |
| 75052 | 1.19 | 2.63 | 0.45 | 10  | 8  |
| 75053 | 2.19 | 6.53 | 0.34 | 22  | 20 |
| 75054 | 0.27 | 1.33 | 0.20 | 72  | 3  |
| 75055 | 0.66 | 1.87 | 0.35 | 6   | 4  |
| 75056 | 1.84 | 5.40 | 0.34 | 49  | 16 |
| 75057 | 0.92 | 1.10 | 0.83 | 64  | 2  |
| 75058 | 2.51 | 3.71 | 0.68 | 47  | 11 |
| 75059 | 4.45 | 7.28 | 0.61 | 135 | 22 |
| 75060 | 0.81 | 1.61 | 0.50 | 115 | 5  |
| 75061 | 0.09 | 0.17 | 0.52 | 82  | 1  |
| 75062 | 0.03 | 0.04 | 0.85 | 70  | 0  |
| 75064 | NA   | 0.68 | NA   | 117 | 1  |
| 75065 | 0.00 | 0.00 | NaN  | 18  | 0  |
| 75066 | 0.53 | 0.54 | 0.97 | 72  | 1  |
| 75067 | 0.76 | 1.00 | 0.76 | 96  | 2  |
| 75069 | 0.07 | 0.12 | 0.60 | 60  | 0  |
| 75070 | 0.05 | 0.28 | 0.19 | 66  | 1  |
| 75071 | 0.69 | 1.23 | 0.56 | 20  | 4  |
| 75072 | 1.01 | 2.63 | 0.39 | 86  | 8  |
| 75074 | 0.04 | 0.08 | 0.58 | 118 | 0  |
| 75076 | 0.02 | 0.03 | 0.49 | 70  | 0  |
| 75077 | 0.16 | 0.66 | 0.24 | 52  | 2  |
| 75078 | 0.11 | 0.20 | 0.55 | 64  | 1  |
| 75079 | 0.00 | 0.00 | NaN  | 56  | 0  |
| 75080 | 2.84 | 4.88 | 0.58 | 35  | 15 |
| 75081 | 0.00 | 0.23 | 0.00 | 30  | 0  |
| 75082 | 0.64 | 0.55 | 1.18 | 10  | 1  |
| 75083 | 0.68 | 0.77 | 0.89 | 42  | 2  |



Figure A1 The mean number of Iceland scallops per video-station, based on the six different counters. Survey conducted in the Moffen and Parryflaket scallop beds north of Svalbard autumn 2022.



Figure A2 Relationship between shell height (mm) and age (years) (fitted by geom\_smoother) in Iceland scallops in the scallop beds in the Bear Island region and Moffen region.



Figure A3 Shell height distribution of Iceland scallop in the scallop beds in Bear Island and the Moffen regions. The dotted line shows the minimum legal size (60 mm).

Table A2 Model estimates with belonging standard errors (SEs) from the two Generalized additive mixed models (GAMMs); a regular GAMM (approach 2a) and spatial GAMM (approach 2b), used to estimate the density of Iceland scallops in the Moffen and Bear Island regions. In addition to matern range and spatial standard deviation (SD) output from the spatial GAMM.

| Approach     | Parameter                         | Estimate | SE     | Matern range | Spatial SD |
|--------------|-----------------------------------|----------|--------|--------------|------------|
| Approach 2a  | $splines::ns(depth_std, df = 3)1$ | - 0.7146 | 0.6419 |              |            |
| Regular GAMM | $splines::ns(depth_std, df = 3)2$ | 3.6075   | 1.5098 |              |            |
|              | $splines::ns(depth_std, df = 3)3$ | 0.1834   | 0.9941 |              |            |
|              | Bear Island SE                    | - 0.9318 | 1.0151 |              |            |
|              | Concordia                         | - 1.8773 | 0.7815 |              |            |
|              | Kveitehola                        | - 1.9187 | 0.8130 |              |            |
|              | Moffen                            | - 0.1241 | 0.7443 |              |            |
|              | Parryflaket                       | - 0.7180 | 0.8576 |              |            |
| Approach 2b  | sdepth_std                        | - 0.06   | 0.18   | 6.72         | 1.94       |
| Spatial GAMM | Bear Island SE                    | 0.10     | 1.14   |              |            |
|              | Concordia                         | - 1.42   | 0.66   |              |            |
|              | Kveitehola                        | - 1.51   | 0.78   |              |            |
|              | Moffen                            | 0.42     | 0.64   |              |            |
|              | Parryflaket                       | 0.66     | 1.00   |              |            |



Figure A4 Map of the predicted density of Iceland scallops (log-scale) in the Bear Island region, using a geospatial model (GAMM implemented in sdmTMB). The colour scale shows the predicted scallop density per cell of the integration grid, while the size of black circles represents the observed scallops density per station. Grey lines indicate the strata borders, with strata corresponding to scallop beds Bear Island SE, Kveitehola and Concordia (from south to north). Kveitehola and Concordia are subdived into 50-100m and 100-150m depth strata, whereas Bear Island SE consists of only one stratum.



Figure A5 The estimate of harvestable abundance of Iceland scallop ( $n \ge 60 \text{ mm } x \ 10^6$ ), with error bars showing 95% confidence level, per scallop bed based three different approaches; design based swept area, a regular generalized linear mixed effects model (GAMM fitted with glmmTMB) and a spatial distribution model (spatial GAMM fitted with sdmTMB).

Table A3 The estimate of density (n scallop/ $m^2$ ), abundance (n scallop x 10<sup>6</sup>), abundance over legal size (n scallop x 10<sup>6</sup>) biomass over legal size (tons x 10<sup>3</sup>), with respective Cl05 and Cl95 (in the same unit as the beloning categories) of Iceland scallops pr scallop bed in the Moffen and Bear Island regions based on three different density estimation approaches.

| Scallop_bed       | Model           | Density | Density_CI05 | Density_Cl95 | Abundance<br>(x 10^6) | Abundance<br>Cl05 | AbundanceCl95 | Abundance<br>(x 10^6)<br>legal size | Legal<br>size<br>Cl95 | Legal<br>size<br>Cl05 | Legal<br>size<br>biomass<br>(1000<br>tonn) | Biomass<br>Cl95 | Biomass<br>Cl05 |
|-------------------|-----------------|---------|--------------|--------------|-----------------------|-------------------|---------------|-------------------------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|--|-----------------|-----------------|
| Bear Island<br>SE | Regular<br>GAMM | 1.10    | 0.24         | 5.16         | 211.19                | 45.26             | 985.47        | 202.96                              | 947.05                | 43.49                 | 14.21                                      | 66.29           | 3.04            |
| Concordia         | Regular<br>GAMM | 0.42    | 0.18         | 0.99         | 657.48                | 277.89            | 1,555.57      | 538.84                              | 1,274.86              | 227.75                | 37.72                                      | 89.24           | 15.94           |
| Kveitehola        | Regular<br>GAMM | 0.48    | 0.18         | 1.26         | 320.66                | 120.99            | 849.83        | 275.36                              | 729.77                | 103.90                | 19.28                                      | 51.08           | 7.27            |
| Moffen            | Regular<br>GAMM | 4.32    | 1.60         | 11.63        | 3,753.61              | 1,393.42          | 10,111.55     | 3,164.81                            | 8,525.42              | 1,174.84              | 221.54                                     | 596.78          | 82.24           |
| Parryflaket       | Regular<br>GAMM | 3.87    | 1.16         | 12.93        | 246.68                | 73.81             | 824.45        | 219.75                              | 734.46                | 65.75                 | 15.38                                      | 51.41           | 4.60            |
| Bear Island<br>SE | Spatial<br>GAMM | 1.08    | 0.35         | 3.76         | 205.66                | 66.40             | 718.65        | 197.64                              | 690.62                | 63.81                 | 13.83                                      | 48.34           | 4.47            |
| Concordia         | Spatial<br>GAMM | 0.19    | 0.08         | 0.51         | 297.29                | 119.78            | 798.27        | 243.64                              | 654.22                | 98.17                 | 17.05                                      | 45.80           | 6.87            |
| Kveitehola        | Spatial<br>GAMM | 0.25    | 0.10         | 0.60         | 167.46                | 65.18             | 405.57        | 143.80                              | 348.27                | 55.97                 | 10.07                                      | 24.38           | 3.92            |
| Moffen            | Spatial<br>GAMM | 1.39    | 0.50         | 3.32         | 1,205.25              | 439.03            | 2,891.31      | 1,016.19                            | 2,437.77              | 370.16                | 71.13                                      | 170.64          | 25.91           |
| Parryflaket       | Spatial<br>GAMM | 2.06    | 0.75         | 6.10         | 131.21                | 47.58             | 388.96        | 116.89                              | 346.51                | 42.38                 | 8.18                                       | 24.26           | 2.97            |
| Bear Island<br>SE | Swept<br>area   | 2.21    | 1.19         | 3.22         | 421.76                | 228.07            | 615.46        | 405.32                              | 591.47                | 219.17                | 28.37                                      | 41.40           | 15.34           |
| Concordia         | Swept<br>area   | 0.49    | 0.24         | 0.75         | 777.36                | 372.38            | 1,182.35      | 637.09                              | 968.99                | 305.18                | 44.60                                      | 67.83           | 21.36           |
| Kveitehola        | Swept<br>area   | 0.64    | 0.22         | 1.05         | 427.47                | 147.68            | 707.27        | 367.08                              | 607.35                | 126.82                | 25.70                                      | 42.51           | 8.88            |
| Moffen            | Swept<br>area   | 3.04    | 1.83         | 4.25         | 2,642.44              | 1,592.17          | 3,692.70      | 2,227.94                            | 3,113.45              | 1,342.42              | 155.96                                     | 217.94          | 93.97           |
| Parryflaket       | Swept<br>area   | 1.66    | 0.61         | 2.71         | 105.72                | 38.82             | 172.61        | 94.18                               | 153.77                | 34.59                 | 6.59                                       | 10.76           | 2.42            |

# 6.2 Appendix 2: Additions to discussion



Figure A6 The estimated density of Iceland scallops  $(n/m^2)$  per bed, with error bars showing 95% confidence level, using a geospatial GAMM implemented in sdmTMB to predict densities with a spatial integration grid (spatial GAMM) and fixed effects only (simple spatial GAMM, based on categorical scallop bed effect and mean observed bottom depth).